

TECHNICAL REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE

1 Demant No.	2.0	A an an ing Ma	. 2	Desinian	the Catalas Na
1. Report No.: $EIWA CA 21 1012$	2. Governmen	It Accession Ino.	.: 5.	Recipien	t's Catalog No.:
ГП W A-UA-21-1912 IN/A		5	N/A		
4. The and Sublue:			5.	Keport D	ate:
Cognitive Attention and its Application in Countermeasures on a			July 202	.1	
Curve Section		6.	Performi N/A	ng Organization Code:	
7. Authors:			8.	Performi	ng Organization Report
Junan Shen (PI), Ph.D. (http:	s://orcid.org/0000-000	1-6069-4313);		No.:	
Weinan Gao (co-PI), Ph.D. (https://orcid.org/0000	-0001-7921-018	SX);	RP 19-12	2
Mohammad Ahad, Ph.D.; Yu	unfeng Chen (co-PI),	Ph.D.			
(https://orcid.org/0000-0002	-0108-8484); Hongyu	e Wu			
(https://orcid.org/0000-0003-	-2252-4078); and Osa	hon Iroghama			
9. Performing Organization Nat	me and Address:		10	. Work U	nit No.:
Georgia Southern University	•			N/A	
201 COBA Drive, Building	232		11	. Contract	or Grant No.:
Statesboro, GA 30460-8077				PI#0016	865
Phone: (912) 478-0084					
Email: jshen@georgiasouthe	rn.edu				
12. Sponsoring Agency Name an	id Address:		13	. Type of	Report and Period
Georgia Department of Tran	sportation			Covered	1:
Office of Performance-based	l			Final Re	port; September 2019 –
Management and Research				July 202	,1
600 West Peachtree St. NW			14	. Sponsor	ing Agency Code:
Atlanta, GA 30308			N/A		
15. Supplementary Notes:					
Prepared in cooperation with	the U.S. Department	of Transportation	on, Federa	l Highway	Administration.
16. Abstract:					
To reduce crashes and improve traffic safety on roads, this project explored a methodology of evaluating the					
safety countermeasures bas	safety countermeasures based on cognitive attention and driving performance with eye-tracking and driving				eye-tracking and driving
simulation technologies and comprehensive analysis of eye movements, driving performance, and short-tern			rformance, and short-term		
memory. An experiment for data collection of cognitive response and driving performance to 11 countermeasures					
was designed with two weather conditions (clear and foggy) and two traffic flows (light and heavy) in a rural					
road curve section with a right and a left turn. Four combinations of the weather conditions and traffic flow were					
formed. Four sequence groups of the combinations were followed to eliminate the bias in data collection. Data					
of 60 participants were colle	of 60 participants were collected. Analysis of variance (ANOVA) tests indicated that countermeasures, weather			countermeasures, weather	
conditions, and traffic flow i	mpacted the drivers	cognitive attenti	on, drivin	g behavio	r, and short-term memory.
Dividing participants into gr	Dividing participants into groups with different sequences of simulation combinations was useful to improve the				
bias for a limited sample siz	e, while different star	ting time points	of the col	mbination	s did not cause significant
differences in the data collected. Finally, regression analyses using machine learning technology indicated that					
abould an usid the are affective	, shoulder runble strip	os, nexible denn	eator post	s, curve w	aintain the man an lavel of
shoulder width are effective	countermeasures that	can attract driv	ers attent	ion and m	the treffic sefercy. The
offectiveness of the counter	manufactor from the re-	grossions that a	onsidered	the court	itiya propartias was much
closer to what is expected	compared to those the	gressions that c	olisider the	cognitivo	properties. The proposed
methodology using both ex	ve tracker and drivin	a simulator wa	s found to	o be a us	seful way to evaluate the
effectiveness of countermea	sures to improve traffi	c safety	s iouna t		serur way to evaluate the
17 Keywords:	sures to improve train	18 Distribution	n Statama	at:	
Traffic Safety: Countermeas	ures. Driving	No Restrict	ions	11.	
Performance: Eve Movemen	te	NO RESULCE.	10115.		
19 Security Classification (of	20 Security Classific:	ation (of this	21 No. o	f Pages	22 Price
this report):	20. Security Classifica	thon (of this	21.10.0	1 I ages.	22. Thee.
Unclassified	Unclassified		12	9	Free

Form DOT 1700.7 (8-72)

Reproduction of completed page authorized

GDOT Research Project No. 19-12

Final Report

COGNITIVE ATTENTION AND ITS APPLICATION IN COUNTERMEASURES ON A CURVE SECTION

By

Junan Shen, Ph.D. Professor, Civil Engineering & Construction, Georgia Southern University

Weinan Gao, Ph.D. Assistant Professor, Mechanical and Civil Engineering, Florida Institute of Technology

Mohammad Ahad, Ph.D. Associate Professor, Electrical and Computer Engineering, Georgia Southern University

Yunfeng Chen, Ph.D. Assistant Professor, Construction Management Technology, Purdue University

Georgia Southern University Research and Service Foundation, Inc

Contract with Georgia Department of Transportation

In cooperation with U.S. Department of Transportation Federal Highway Administration

July 2021

The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors, who are responsible for the facts and accuracy of the data presented herein. The contents do not necessarily reflect the official views of the Georgia Department of Transportation or the Federal Highway Administration. This report does not constitute a standard, specification, or regulation.

SI* (MODERN METRIC) CONVERSION FACTORS				
	APPF	COXIMATE CONVERSIONS	TO SI UNITS	
Symbol	When You Know	Multiply By	To Find	Symbol
		LENGTH		
in	inches	25.4	millimeters	mm
ft	feet	0.305	meters	m
yd	yards	0.914	meters	m
mi	miles		kilometers	кm
in ²	aquara inchas		aquara millimatora	mm ²
ft ²	square feet	045.2	square meters	m ²
vd ²	square vard	0.836	square meters	m ²
ac	acres	0.405	hectares	ha
mi ²	square miles	2.59	square kilometers	km ²
		VOLUME		
fl oz	fluid ounces	29.57	milliliters	mL
gal	gallons	3.785	liters	L
ft	cubic feet	0.028	cubic meters	m
yd°	cubic yards	0.765	cubic meters	m°
	NU	TE: volumes greater than 1000 L shall be	snown in m	
	0.112.000	IVIA33	aromo	~
0Z	ounces	28.35	grams	g
Т	short tons (2000 lb)	0.454	KIIOgraffis	kg Ma (or "t")
•	3101110113 (2000 15)	TEMPERATURE (exact deg		ing (or t)
°⊏	Fabranhait		Colsius	°C
1	i amennen	or (F-32)/1.8	Celsius	C
fc	foot-candles	10.76	lux	ly.
fl	foot-Lamberts	3 426	candela/m ²	cd/m ²
		FORCE and PRESSURE or ST	RESS	
lbf	poundforce	4.45	newtons	N
lbf/in ²	poundforce per square	inch 6.89	kilopascals	kPa
Symbol				Symbol
Symbol	when fou know		10 Find	Symbol
	millimatora		inches	in
mm	millimeters	0.039	Inches	IN #
m	meters	1.09	vards	11
km	motors	1.00	yaras	Va
	kilometers	0.621	miles	ya mi
	kilometers	0.621 AREA	miles	ya mi
mm ²	kilometers	0.621 AREA 0.0016	miles square inches	ya mi in ²
mm² m²	kilometers square millimeters square meters	0.621 AREA 0.0016 10.764	miles square inches square feet	ya mi in ² ft ²
mm ² m ² m ²	kilometers square millimeters square meters square meters	0.621 AREA 0.0016 10.764 1.195	miles square inches square feet square yards	ya mi in ² ft ² yd ²
mm ² m ² m ² ha	kilometers square millimeters square meters square meters hectares	0.621 AREA 0.0016 10.764 1.195 2.47	miles square inches square feet square yards acres	ya mi in ² ft ² yd ² ac
mm ² m ² m ² ha km ²	kilometers square millimeters square meters square meters hectares square kilometers	0.621 AREA 0.0016 10.764 1.195 2.47 0.386	miles square inches square feet square yards acres square miles	ya mi ft ² yd ² ac mi ²
mm ² m ² ha km ²	kilometers square millimeters square meters square meters hectares square kilometers	0.621 AREA 0.0016 10.764 1.195 2.47 0.386 VOLUME	miles square inches square feet square yards acres square miles	ya mi ft ² yd ² ac mi ²
mm ² m ² ha km ² mL	kilometers square millimeters square meters square meters hectares square kilometers milliliters	0.621 AREA 0.0016 10.764 1.195 2.47 0.386 VOLUME 0.034	miles square inches square feet square yards acres square miles fluid ounces	ya mi in² ft² yd² ac mi² fl oz
mm ² m ² ha km ² mL	kilometers square millimeters square meters square meters hectares square kilometers milliliters liters	0.621 AREA 0.0016 10.764 1.195 2.47 0.386 VOLUME 0.034 0.264 0.264	miles square inches square feet square yards acres square miles fluid ounces gallons	yd mi ft ² yd ² ac mi ² fl oz gal
mm ² m ² ha km ² mL L m ³ m ³	kilometers square millimeters square meters square meters hectares square kilometers milliliters liters cubic meters oubic meters	0.621 AREA 0.0016 10.764 1.195 2.47 0.386 VOLUME 0.034 0.264 35.314 1.207	miles square inches square feet square yards acres square miles fluid ounces gallons cubic feet oubic verde	yd mi in ² ft ² yd ² ac mi ² fl oz gal ft ³ yd ³
mm ² m ² ha km ² mL L m ³ m ³	kilometers square millimeters square meters hectares square kilometers milliliters liters cubic meters cubic meters	0.621 AREA 0.0016 10.764 1.195 2.47 0.386 VOLUME 0.034 0.264 35.314 1.307 MASS	miles square inches square feet square yards acres square miles fluid ounces gallons cubic feet cubic yards	yd mi ft ² yd ² ac mi ² fl oz gal ft ³ yd ³
mm ² m ² ha km ² mL L m ³ m ³	kilometers square millimeters square meters hectares square kilometers milliliters liters cubic meters cubic meters	0.621 AREA 0.0016 10.764 1.195 2.47 0.386 VOLUME 0.034 0.264 35.314 1.307 MASS 0.025	miles square inches square feet square yards acres square miles fluid ounces gallons cubic feet cubic yards	yd mi in² ft² yd² ac mi² fl oz gal ft³ yd³
mm ² m ² ha km ² mL L m ³ m ³	kilometers square millimeters square meters hectares square kilometers milliliters liters cubic meters cubic meters grams kilograms	0.621 AREA 0.0016 10.764 1.195 2.47 0.386 VOLUME 0.034 0.264 35.314 1.307 MASS 0.035 2.202	miles square inches square feet square yards acres square miles fluid ounces gallons cubic feet cubic yards	yd mi in ² ft ² yd ² ac mi ² fl oz gal ft ³ yd ³ oz
mm ² m ² ha km ² mL L m ³ m ³ g kg Mg (or "t")	kilometers square millimeters square meters square meters hectares square kilometers milliliters liters cubic meters cubic meters grams kilograms megagrams (or "metric	0.621 AREA 0.0016 10.764 1.195 2.47 0.386 VOLUME 0.034 0.264 35.314 1.307 MASS 0.035 2.202 ton") 1.103	miles square inches square feet square yards acres square miles fluid ounces gallons cubic feet cubic yards ounces pounds short tons (2000 lb)	yd mi in ² ft ² yd ² ac mi ² fl oz gal ft ³ yd ³ oz lb T
mm ² m ² ha km ² mL L m ³ m ³ g kg Mg (or "t")	kilometers square millimeters square meters square meters hectares square kilometers milliliters liters cubic meters cubic meters grams kilograms megagrams (or "metric	0.621 AREA 0.0016 10.764 1.195 2.47 0.386 VOLUME 0.034 0.264 35.314 1.307 MASS 0.035 2.202 ton") 1.103 TEMPERATURE (exact deput	miles square inches square feet square yards acres square miles fluid ounces gallons cubic feet cubic feet cubic yards ounces pounds short tons (2000 lb) ees)	yd mi ft ² yd ² ac mi ² fl oz gal ft ³ yd ³ oz lb T
mm ² m ² ha km ² mL L m ³ m ³ g kg Mg (or "t")	kilometers square millimeters square meters hectares square kilometers milliliters liters cubic meters cubic meters grams kilograms megagrams (or "metric Celsius	0.621 AREA 0.0016 10.764 1.195 2.47 0.386 VOLUME 0.034 0.264 35.314 1.307 MASS 0.035 2.202 ton") 1.103 TEMPERATURE (exact degr 1.8C+32	miles square inches square feet square yards acres square miles fluid ounces gallons cubic feet cubic feet cubic yards ounces pounds short tons (2000 lb) ees) Fahrenheit	yd mi in² ft² yd² ac mi² fl oz gal ft³ yd³ oz lb T °F
mm ² m ² m ² ha km ² mL L m ³ m ³ g kg Mg (or "t")	kilometers square millimeters square meters square meters hectares square kilometers milliliters liters cubic meters cubic meters grams kilograms megagrams (or "metric Celsius	0.621 AREA 0.0016 10.764 1.195 2.47 0.386 VOLUME 0.034 0.264 35.314 1.307 MASS 0.035 2.202 ton") 1.103 TEMPERATURE (exact degr 1.8C+32 ILLUMINATION	miles square inches square feet square yards acres square miles fluid ounces gallons cubic feet cubic yards ounces pounds short tons (2000 lb) ees) Fahrenheit	yd mi in² ft² yd² ac mi² fl oz gal ft³ yd³ oz lb T °F
mm ² m ² m ² ha km ² mL L m ³ m ³ g kg Mg (or "t") °C	kilometers square millimeters square meters square meters hectares square kilometers milliliters liters cubic meters cubic meters grams kilograms megagrams (or "metric Celsius	0.621 AREA 0.0016 10.764 1.195 2.47 0.386 VOLUME 0.034 0.264 35.314 1.307 MASS 0.035 2.202 ton") 1.103 TEMPERATURE (exact degr 1.8C+32 ILLUMINATION 0.0929	miles square inches square feet square yards acres square miles fluid ounces gallons cubic feet cubic yards ounces pounds short tons (2000 lb) ees) Fahrenheit	yd mi in² ft² yd² ac mi² fl oz gal ft³ yd³ oz lb T °F
mm ² m ² ha km ² mL L m ³ m ³ g kg Mg (or "t") °C	kilometers square millimeters square meters square meters square kilometers milliliters liters cubic meters cubic meters grams kilograms megagrams (or "metric Celsius lux candela/m ²	0.621 AREA 0.0016 10.764 1.195 2.47 0.386 VOLUME 0.034 0.264 35.314 1.307 MASS 0.035 2.202 ton") 1.103 TEMPERATURE (exact degr 1.8C+32 ILLUMINATION 0.0929 0.2919	miles square inches square feet square yards acres square miles fluid ounces gallons cubic feet cubic yards ounces pounds short tons (2000 lb) rees) Fahrenheit foot-candles foot-Lamberts	yd mi in² ft² yd² ac mi² fl oz gal ft³ yd³ oz lb T °F fc fl
mm ² m ² ha km ² mL L m ³ m ³ g kg Mg (or "t") °C lx cd/m ²	kilometers square millimeters square meters square meters square kilometers milliliters iters cubic meters cubic meters grams kilograms megagrams (or "metric Celsius lux candela/m ²	0.621 AREA 0.0016 10.764 1.195 2.47 0.386 VOLUME 0.034 0.264 35.314 1.307 MASS 0.035 2.202 ton") 1.103 TEMPERATURE (exact degr 1.8C+32 ILLUMINATION 0.0929 0.2919 FORCE and PRESSURE or S	miles square inches square feet square yards acres square miles fluid ounces gallons cubic feet cubic yards ounces pounds short tons (2000 lb) tees) Fahrenheit foot-candles foot-Lamberts RESS	yd mi in ² ft ² yd ² ac mi ² fl oz gal ft ³ yd ³ oz lb T °F fc fl
mm ² m ² ha km ² mL L m ³ m ³ g kg Mg (or "t") °C lx cd/m ²	kilometers square millimeters square meters square meters hectares square kilometers milliliters cubic meters cubic meters grams kilograms megagrams (or "metric Celsius lux candela/m ² newtons	0.621 AREA 0.0016 10.764 1.195 2.47 0.386 VOLUME 0.034 0.264 35.314 1.307 MASS 0.035 2.202 ton") 1.103 TEMPERATURE (exact degr 1.8C+32 ILLUMINATION 0.0929 0.2919 FORCE and PRESSURE or ST 0.225	miles square inches square feet square yards acres square miles fluid ounces gallons cubic feet cubic yards ounces pounds short tons (2000 lb) ees) Fahrenheit foot-candles foot-Lamberts FRESS poundforce	yd mi in ² ft ² yd ² ac mi ² fl oz gal ft ³ yd ³ oz lb T °F fc fl lbf
mm ² m ² ha km ² mL L m ³ m ³ g kg Mg (or "t") °C lx cd/m ² N kPa	kilometers square millimeters square meters square meters hectares square kilometers milliliters cubic meters cubic meters grams kilograms megagrams (or "metric Celsius lux candela/m ² newtons kilopascals	0.621 AREA 0.0016 10.764 1.195 2.47 0.386 VOLUME 0.034 0.264 35.314 1.307 MASS 0.035 2.202 ton") 1.103 TEMPERATURE (exact degr 1.8C+32 ILLUMINATION 0.0929 0.2919 FORCE and PRESSURE or ST 0.225 0.145	miles square inches square feet square yards acres square miles fluid ounces gallons cubic feet cubic yards ounces pounds short tons (2000 lb) ees) Fahrenheit foot-candles foot-Lamberts FRESS poundforce poundforce per square inch	yd mi in ² ft ² yd ² ac mi ² fl oz gal ft ³ yd ³ oz lb T °F fc fl lbf lbf/in ²

* SI is the symbol for the International System of Units. Appropriate rounding should be made to comply with Section 4 of ASTM E380. (Revised March 2003)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 1
CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION
OVERVIEW
RESEARCH OBJECTIVE AND SCOPE7
CHAPTER 2. LITERATURE REVIEW
TRAFFIC CRASHES
DRIVING SIMULATION
DEMOGRAPHIC INDICATORS 10
EYE MOVEMENTS 11
DRIVING PERFORMANCE13
SHORT-TERM MEMORY15
CHAPTER 3. DATA COLLECTION
CASE STUDY16
COUNTERMEASURES19
DRIVING SIMULATION SETUP AND MODELING PLAN
SCENARIO MODELING
POPULATION AND SAMPLE
METHODOLOGY AND MATERIALS
Demographic Information
Eye Movements and Driving Performance
Short-term Memory
$\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{A}} = \mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{A}} = $
DATA COLLECTION PROCESS 43
CHAPTER 4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS 46
DESCRIPTIVE ANALYSIS 47
Demographic Data Analysis 47
Short-term Memory Data Analysis 50
ANOVA TEST FOR EYE MOVEMENTS, DRIVING PERFORMANCE,
AND MEMORY 53
Eye Movements
Driving Performance

Short-term Memory	. 68
ANOVA TEST FOR SEQUENCE AND ORDERS	. 69
Comparison Between Sequences of Combinations of Weather Condition and Traffic Flow	. 70
Comparison Between Orders of Each Combination of Weather Condition and Traffic Flow	. 74
Summary of ANOVA Results	, 78
VISULIZATION OF ATTENTION DISTRIBUTION AND INTENSITY	. 81
REGRESSIONS BETWEEN COUNTERMEASURES AND CRASH USING MACHINE LEARNING	. 84
REGRESSIONS BETWEEN COUNTERMEASURES, COGNITIVE	
ATTENTION, AND CRASH USING MACHINE LEARNING	. 88
CHAPTER 5. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	. 95
CONCLUSIONS	. 95
RECOMMENDATIONS	. 97
APPENDIX A: PRE-SURVEY	100
APPENDIX B: SHORT-TERM MEMORY QUESTIONNAIRE	103
APPENDIX C: POST-SURVEY	109
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	110
REFERENCES	111

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Map. Cypress Lake Road, Statesboro, GA	17
Figure 2. Diagram. Road grade of Cypress Lake Road.	18
Figure 3. Map. Scenario road setup showing both left and right curves.	19
Figure 4. Photo. Combined driving simulator and eye tracker system	23
Figure 5. Flowchart. How the combined system worked.	23
Figure 6. Diagram. Simulation model plan	25
Figure 7. Screenshot. Basic scenario model example	28
Figure 8. Screenshot. Left turn in the simulation	28
Figure 9. Screenshot. Right turn in the simulation.	29
Figure 10. Screenshot. Combination 1 – Light traffic flow with clear weather.	29
Figure 11. Screenshot. Combination 2 – Light traffic flow with foggy weather	30
Figure 12. Screenshot. Combination 3 – Heavy traffic flow with clear weather	30
Figure 13. Screenshot. Combination 4 – Heavy traffic flow with foggy weather	31
Figure 14. Screenshot. Countermeasure 1 – Centerline pavement marking	31
Figure 15. Screenshot. Countermeasure 2 – Edge line pavement marking	32
Figure 16. Screenshot. Countermeasure 3 – Shoulder rumble strips	32
Figure 17. Screenshot. Countermeasure 4 – Flexible delineator posts	33
Figure 18. Screenshot. Countermeasure 5 – Posted speed sign	33
Figure 19. Screenshot. Countermeasure 6 – Curve warning sign	34
Figure 20. Screenshot. Countermeasure 7 – Curve speed warning sign	34
Figure 21. Screenshot. Countermeasure 8 – Increased shoulder width	35
Figure 22. Flowchart. Experiment procedure.	39
Figure 23. Flowchart. Data collection process	44
Figure 24. Flowchart. Data analysis process	47
Figure 25. Pie graph. Breakdown of participants by gender	48
Figure 26. Pie graph. Breakdown of female participants by ethnicity	49
Figure 27. Pie graph. Breakdown of male participants by ethnicity	49

Figure 28. Pie graph. Breakdown of participants by age
Figure 29. Pie graph. Breakdown of participants by driving experience
Figure 30. Pie graph. Item identification analysis breakdown for combination 1
Figure 31. Pie graph. Item identification analysis breakdown for combination 2
Figure 32. Pie graph. Item identification analysis breakdown for combination 3
Figure 33. Pie graph. Pattern identification analysis breakdown for combination 4 53
Figure 34. Screenshot. Heat map image for all 60 participants
Figure 35. Screenshot. Heat map image for first 10 participants
Figure 36. Screenshot. Gaze plot of an early participant for combination 1
Figure 37. Screenshot. Gaze plot of an early participant for combination 2
Figure 38. Diagram. Regressions for countermeasures, cognitive attention, and crash 88

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Demographic indicators.	. 10
Table 2. Eye movements indicators.	. 12
Table 3. Driving performance indicators.	. 14
Table 4. Short-term memory indicators.	. 15
Table 5. Summary of countermeasures used for this project.	. 20
Table 6. Runs and countermeasures for each combination	. 26
Table 7. Factors of eye movements.	. 41
Table 8. Factors of driving performance	. 42
Table 9. Factors of short-term memory.	. 43
Table 10. Breakdown of participants by smoking and alcohol consumption	. 50
Table 11. Breakdown of recall test for all participants	. 51
Table 12. Results of ANOVA tests for eye movements and countermeasures	. 56
Table 13. Summary of eye movements under countermeasures.	. 57
Table 14. Results of ANOVA tests for eye movements and combinations	. 61
Table 15. Summary of eye movements under combinations.	. 62
Table 16. Results of ANOVA tests for driving performance and countermeasures	. 63
Table 17. Summary of driving performance under countermeasures.	. 64
Table 18. Results of ANOVA tests for driving performance and combinations	. 66
Table 19. Summary of driving performance under combinations.	. 67
Table 20. Results of ANOVA tests for short-term memory and combinations	. 68
Table 21. Summary of short-term memory under combinations.	. 69
Table 22. Four sequences with different order of combinations	. 70
Table 23. Results of ANOVA tests for eye movements and sequences	. 70
Table 24. Summary of eye movements under sequences.	. 71
Table 25. Results of ANOVA tests for driving performance and sequences	. 72
Table 26. Summary of driving performance under sequences.	. 73
Table 27. Results of ANOVA tests for short-term memory and sequences.	. 73

Table 28. Summary of sl	hort-term memory under sequences	74
Table 29. Results of AN	OVA tests for eye movements and orders	75
Table 30. Summary of e	ye movements under orders	75
Table 31. Results of AN	OVA tests for driving performance and orders	76
Table 32. Summary of d	riving performance under orders	77
Table 33. Results of AN	OVA tests for short-term memory and orders	77
Table 34. Summary of sl	hort-term memory under orders	
Table 35. Summary of A	NOVA test results.	80
Table 36. W values of the	e regression analysis for countermeasures and crashes	86
Table 37. W values of the	e regression analysis for four combinations and crash	87
Table 38. <i>B</i> values of reg movements	gression analysis between countermeasures and eye	89
Table 39. D values of reg	gression analysis between eye movements and crash	
Table 40. Significance p	arameters (B) between countermeasure and cognition	
Table 41. Combined sign and cognition.	nificance parameters $(B \times D)$ between crash, countermeas	sure, 93

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

One of the leading reasons for premature death in Georgia (GA) is motor vehicle crashes, and lack of attention for drivers is a critical reason for traffic crashes. To reduce crashes and improve traffic safety, this project explored the relationship between cognitive attention between safety countermeasures and drivers' performance in a typical rural area in GA with high incidences of crashes through a comprehensive analysis of eye movements, driving performance, and self-reported short-term memory. An experiment was designed to simulate the selected rural road curve section on Cypress Lake Road in Statesboro, GA, with both horizontal and vertical curves, 11 different countermeasures, 4 combinations of weather conditions (foggy and clear) with 2 different traffic flows (light and heavy traffic volume). Eye movements and short-term memory were collected by an eye tracker and questionnaires, respectively, and were used to evaluate drivers' cognitive attention, while the driving simulator was used to measure driving performance. Sixty drivers participated in the experiment for data collection. The analysis of variance (ANOVA) method was then used to test the differences between drivers' cognitive attention, driving performance, and short-term memory between countermeasures and combinations of weather and traffic. Next, heat maps were used to achieve the visualization of attention distribution and intensity. Finally, regression analysis was performed to evaluate the relationships between countermeasures, drivers' cognitive attention, and traffic safety.

The findings of the project include the following:

- The countermeasures had significant impacts on drivers' cognitive attention and driving performance according to the ANOVA tests. Specifically, there were significant differences in drivers' cognitive workload, attention shifts, level of interests, and difficulty of information extraction and understanding, as well as the number of crashes, vehicle speed, acceleration and deceleration, lateral acceleration, steering wheel angle, and lateral lane position between countermeasures.
- 2. The results of the regression analysis between cognitive attention, traffic crash, and countermeasures indicated that the following countermeasures were effective, meaning they can attract drivers' attention and maintain the proper level of cognitive workload and visual information to reduce traffic crashes and improve traffic safety in the two-lane rural curve section:
 - a. Edge line pavement marking $(B \times D_{attention shifts} = -0.0007,$

 $B \times D_{interest} = 0.1247$, and $B \times D_{difficulty} = -0.1078)^1$.

- b. Shoulder rumble strips ($B \times D_{workload} = -0.1397$ and $B \times D_{difficulty} = -0.1075$).
- c. Flexible delineator posts ($B \times D_{workload} = -0.1411$ and $B \times D_{interest} = 0.1220$).

¹ *B*: significance parameter between countermeasures and drivers' cognitive attention; *D*: significance parameter between drivers' cognitive attention and traffic crash;

 $B \times D$: significance parameter showing the relationships between countermeasures and traffic crash based on the drivers' cognitive attention.

- d. Curve warning sign ($B \times D_{attention shifts} = -0.0009$ and $B \times D_{interest} = 0.1240$).
- e. Increased shoulder width ($B \times D_{attention shifts} = -0.0007$ and

 $B \times D_{interest} = 0.1181$).

- 3. There were significant differences in drivers' cognitive attention, driving performance, and short-term memory between the weather conditions and traffic flows according to the ANOVA results, including the cognitive workload (p < 0.05), attention patterns (p < 0.05), attention shifts (p < 0.01), level of interests (p < 0.01), vehicle speed (p < 0.01), acceleration and deceleration (p < 0.01), lateral acceleration (p < 0.01), lateral lane position (p < 0.01), and ability to control attention (p < 0.05). Foggy weather with heavy traffic flow was the most dangerous scenario that caused the most crashes, while the scenario with clear weather and light traffic flow was a safer combination that led to the smallest number of crashes.
- 4. The results of regression analyses between crashes and countermeasures indicated that edge line pavement marking, flexible delineator posts, curve speed warning sign, posted speed sign, and increased curve grade countermeasures were effective to improve traffic safety by adding them to the road along with the basic centerline pavement marking. In particular, the countermeasures of posted speed sign $(W = 0.0333)^2$ and increased curve grade (W = 0.0333) were the most effective countermeasures based on the existing centerline and edge line markings.

² W: significance parameter between countermeasures and number of crashes.

in reducing the number of crashes in the selected two-lane rural road curve section.

- 5. There were significant differences for 12 out of 17 indicators of eye movements, driving performance, and short-term memory among different sequences of combinations of weather and traffic flow. Dividing the 60 participants into 4 sequences of combinations of different weather conditions and traffic flow was useful to reduce the bias within a limited sample size. On the contrary, the order of each combination did not impact the majority of indicators (15 out of 17). Different starting time points of each combination did not cause a significant difference between eye movements and driving performance.
- 6. The proposed methodology using both the eye tracker and driving simulator together was an effective tool to evaluate the effectiveness of the countermeasures, based on a comprehensive analysis of cognitive attention and driving performance to improve traffic safety. Considering drivers' cognition in the regressions between the countermeasure and crash was capable of achieving more realistic results compared with those without cognitive properties.

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

OVERVIEW

Over 403,000 traffic crashes occurred in Georgia (GA) in 2019 (Georgia Department of Transportation [GDOT] 2021a). Specifically, fatality crashes increased from 1,180 in 2013 to 1,506 in 2019 in Georgia (GDOT 2021a). In particular, driver attention is important for studying how to reduce traffic accidents. About 70-90 percent of traffic crashes are correlated with human error, especially visual attention, which is considered the most critical source of accidents and incidents (Konstantopoulos et al. 2010, Petrillo and De Felice 2011). To reduce traffic crashes, researchers have proposed approaches and models to assess and estimate human failures and visual attention in the transportation area (Dia 2001, Petrillo and De Felice 2011). The role and impact of attention in road safety, especially in countermeasures, have been investigated with different measures (i.e., driving performance, eye movements, self-assessment, and memory), conditions (i.e., focused driving and distracted driving), areas (e.g., perceptual speed countermeasures, distraction countermeasures, and impaired driving countermeasures), and settings (i.e., field research and laboratory simulations). However, there has been limited study of attention through the collection and analysis of eye movements data with a high-precision eye tracker, which tracks drivers' attention at high temporal and spatial resolutions.

Some studies have discussed the role of attention in speed selection for different perceptual countermeasures based on driving performance (Charlton 2007, Khan 2010). However, the empirical evidence of visual performance is missing. Also, existing studies

tracked the driving performance and eye movements of drivers with video cameras to identify the attention allocation patterns and relationships between drivers' inattention and crash risk in lead-vehicle pre-crash scenarios (Victor et al. 2015, Wong and Huang 2013). The results provide valuable insights into the impact of inattention and glancing behavior of drivers in real-world situations. However, the quality and processing of data are limited and inherently somewhat "messy" and prone to errors with low sampling rates and manually annotated glance location data. Other studies employed eye-tracking data, driving performance, and self-reporting to study drivers' attention (Caird et al. 2008, Castro 2008). However, practical solutions or comparison of countermeasures were not provided. For example, the Texas Department of Transportation (TxDOT) sponsored a study to identify relationships between drivers' performance and information load with eye movements and heart rate/electrocardiogram wave (Tsyganov et al. 2005). But there is a lack of analysis on drivers' performance under different countermeasures.

One of four leading reasons for premature death in Georgia is motor vehicle crashes. To reduce crashes and improve road safety, it is critical to know the causes of those crashes. It has been found that more than 90 percent of traffic crashes are due to human error (Petrillo and De Felice 2011). Additionally, more than 90 percent of these crashes are related to problems with visual information processing (Castro 2008). More significantly, a majority of explanations given by the drivers were related to attention-related issues such as inattention, distracted attention, and "looked but failed to see" (Konstantopoulos et al. 2010). Attention is a primary cognitive requirement for safe driving performance. To improve road safety and reduce crashes, it is necessary to develop and set effective countermeasures through evaluating the existing road environment of interest by

monitoring drivers' driving performance and eye movements. The countermeasures may include adding, removing, and adjusting any components in the road environment.

RESEARCH OBJECTIVE AND SCOPE

This project's objective was to develop a methodology of evaluating countermeasures based on cognitive attention and driving simulation, i.e., to study the feasibility of explaining the drivers' performance by their eye movements. This was conducted via a thorough and more recent study of drivers' attention to countermeasures in a typical rural area of a curve section in a two-lane, two-way road in GA with a comprehensive analysis of eye movements, driving performance, and self-reported short-term memory.

The scope of the study included testing whether there are significant differences in (1) drivers' performance; (2) drivers' eye movements; and (3) short-term memory between 11 countermeasures on a curve section of both a *right* and a *left turn* under two weather conditions of *clear* and *fog* and two traffic flows of *heavy* and *low*. Data of driving performance, eye movements, and short-term memory were collected for 60 participants with valid driving licenses under different ages, ethnicities, and genders.

CHAPTER 2. LITERATURE REVIEW

This study included a detailed literature review that provides insights into current issues, causes, simulations, solutions, and countermeasures for traffic crashes. In particular, indicators of demographics, driving performance, eye movements, and short-term memory were identified through the literature review.

TRAFFIC CRASHES

Traffic crashes are incidents such as collisions among road users, which can be caused by a lack of driver attentiveness. This section summarizes the rate of traffic crashes related to drivers' attention and on-going research related to it. Latest statistics indicated that there was 9.9% increase in fatalities in distraction-affected crashes (National Highway Traffic Safety Administration [NHTSA] 2020). Over the years, research has been done on drivers' attention in order to identify factors that lead to traffic crashes. Distractions were seen to play a major part in decreasing drivers' attention, which further leads to traffic crashes. "The Role of Driver Distraction in Traffic Crashes" was a major study funded by the American Automobile Association (AAA) Foundation for Traffic Safety in 1999. This 3-year study aimed to identify sources of distraction while driving that would lead to traffic crashes based on data from the previous 5 years (Stutts and Hunter 2003).

DRIVING SIMULATION

Driving simulation is an immerging technology that makes it possible to record, supervise, and analyze data of drivers' performance under different conditions in a real-

time setting. Due to the advancement of this technology, it has been possible to identify difficulties in real road situations that drivers face without putting a driver in harm's way (Mohellebi et al. 2007). This section summarizes previous research performed with driving simulation in relation to drivers' attention and performance. The use of driving simulation has made it possible for many situations to be measurable, such as fitness to drive (Shechtman 2010). It makes it possible to test many challenging/dangerous conditions and scenarios that may not be presented during on-road testing in a standardized setting. Moreover, many advantages make this approach a promising alternative to both neuropsychological and on-road testing for a safe assessment procedure, as well as for cost-cutting, time efficiency, and reliability (de Winter et al. 2009, Lew et al. 2005, Mayhew et al. 2011, Shechtman 2010). These advantages also make it possible for a large amount of data and variables to be collected and analyzed. On the other hand, the major shortcomings of driving simulation seem to be: (1) difficulty in comparing research findings adopting different driving simulators because of how parameters are collected and how driving simulator performance is quantified (Jacobs et al. 2017); (2) participant sickness, dizziness, nausea, vomiting, and sweating associated with simulations (Brooks et al. 2010, Domeyer et al. 2013); and (3) simulator cannot let drivers have the "real" driving experiences because there may be a lack of force being experienced as the driver operates the vehicle. More advanced driving simulator can work better to provide the near-reality driving experiences.

DEMOGRAPHIC INDICATORS

Demographic and situational factors are both related to drivers' attention, which is an important potential cause of crashes (Stutts et al. 2001). This section summarizes operators' demographic information that can affect their driving performance, as shown in table 1.

Indicators	References
Age	Andrews and Westerman (2012)
Gender	Yan et al. (2009)
Visual Abilities	Ackerman et al. (2008)
Marital Status	Sagaspe et al. (2010)
Driving Experience	Lehtonen et al. (2014)
Smoking Habit	Colrain et al. (1992)
Alcohol Consumption	Behnood and Mannering (2017)

Table 1. Demographic indicators.

Age affects driving performance for multiple reasons. With increasing age, cognitive and visual ability and short-term memory decrease, which further results in poor performance when the drivers are involved in multiple tasks (Andrews and Westerman 2012). Lee et al. (2003) also indicated that the driving performance of older drivers is negatively associated with age due to several factors, including loss of visual processing ability on the periphery, deficits due to medical conditions, cognitive decrements, and sensory impairment. Thus, older drivers are more likely to be at-fault because they may have perceptual difficulty when facing traffic flow (McGwin and Brown 1999). *Gender* also impacts drivers' performance. For example, male drivers have a greater chance to be involved in car crashes than female drivers because female drivers are better at memorizing the correct traffic signs (Sagaspe et al. 2010). Also, a previous study has

found that young males have shorter brake response time (Yan et al. 2009). Moreover, the *visual ability* of drivers has an impact on drivers' driving performance; poor vision is the factor that most commonly affects driving performance (Ackerman et al. 2008). In addition, the *marital status* of a driver can also impact driving performance. It was reported that unmarried drivers' driving performance was worse than married drivers' driving performance based on the available statistics (Sagaspe et al. 2010). In addition, past *driving experience* can also impact driving behaviors. The current research showed that experienced drivers allocate a greater part of their visual attention in curve driving (Lehtonen et al. 2014). Finally, *smoking* and *alcohol* consumption habits are also key factors (Behnood and Mannering 2017, Colrain et al. 1992). Drivers with smoking and alcohol consumption habits are indicated to be more likely to be involved in crashes (Behnood and Mannering 2017, Colrain et al. 1992).

EYE MOVEMENTS

Measurement of eye movements is an important part of examining the information processing cycle and controlling task performance (Cornelissen et al. 1992), such as comprehension of language, memory, decision-making, and even more complex tasks (Richardson and Spivey 2004b, 2004a). For drivers, use of eye movements data is a common way to assess their mental workload (Brookhuis and de Waard 2010, Recarte and Nunes 2000, Recarte et al. 2008). Many parameters characterizing eye movements have been studied in relation to the drivers' mental workload, such as eye fixation, saccade, and pupillometry (Marquart et al. 2015); these indicators are provided in table 2.

Factor	Definition	Indicators	References
Fination	Eye movements located within a spatially limited	Fixation duration/Total fixation time	Costa et al. ((2019), de Greef et al. (2009), Vignali et al. (2019)
Fixation	region for a minimum period of time	Number of fixations/Fixation counts	Najar and Sanjram (2018)
		Saccade durations	Desmet and Diependaele (2019)
Saccade	Fast eye movements between different fixation points	Number of saccades	Takeda et al. (2016)
		Saccade distance	Brookhuis and de Waard (2010), de Greef et al. (2009)
		Saccade speed	Brookhuis and de Waard (2010), de Greef et al. (2009)
Pupillometry	Diameter of pupil	Changes of pupil diameter	de Greef et al. (2009), Marshall (2002)
		Average pupil diameter	de Greef et al. (2009)

Table 2. Eye movements indicators.

Fixation indicates eye movements that are located within a spatially limited region (about 0.5°) for a minimum period of time (Nyström and Holmqvist 2010). Number of fixations is calculated as the number of times (counts) the drivers fixated on the areas of interest (AOI), and is also called *fixation counts* (Najar and Sanjram 2018). The fixation duration means the period of time when the eyes are relatively stable and fixating on the AOIs; it is usually represented in seconds (Costa et al. 2019). Number of fixations in a specific area indicates the level of interest, while fixation duration measures the difficulty of information extraction and information understanding (Hill et al. 2003, de Greef et al. 2009, Najar and Sanjram 2018, Vignali et al. 2019). Previous studies show that an increase in cognitive workload results in increased fixation duration, as well (de Greef et al. 2009).

Saccade means fast eye movements between different fixation points (Di Stasi et al. 2010). Saccade duration measures drivers' eye movements speed from one fixation point to another point. Longer saccade time means a more dispersed fixation pattern (Desmet and Diependaele 2019). In the driving task, saccades could be shorter than 200 ms (Kapitaniak et al. 2015). The saccade distance and angles also show the drivers' attention (de Greef et al. 2009, Jiao et al. 2020). In addition, the saccade speed is the saccade distance divided by the saccade duration, which can be used to measure the attention shifts (Kapitaniak et al. 2015). Number of saccades also measures the frequency of attention shifts (Takeda et al. 2016).

Pupillometry, which means the pupil diameter, is used in relation to cognitive workload. The changes in the pupil diameter can reveal whether a person is experiencing cognitive workload (de Greef et al. 2009, Marshall 2002). The average pupil diameter is larger in the overload scenarios, while the average pupil diameter is lower in the underload scenarios (de Greef et al. 2009).

DRIVING PERFORMANCE

Driving performance indicates the drivers' speed, lane position, and other factors that can accommodate the severity of the curve (Hallmark 2012). This section summarizes driving performance indicators, as shown in table 3.

Category	Indicators	References
Crash	Number of any contact with an object	Guo et al. (2013),
Clash	Number of any contact with an object	Lee et al. (2011)
	Vehicle speed	Whitmire et al. (2011)
Speed	Applaration and decoloration	Birrell and Young (2011),
speed	Acceleration and deceleration	Vignali et al. (2019)
	Lateral acceleration	Reymond et al. (2001)
Other	Lateral position	Fisher et al. (2011)
Other	Steering wheel angle	Reed and Green (1999)

Table 3. Driving performance indicators.

Crash indicates the number of any contact with an object by the vehicle, which is the core indicator showing the driving performance (Guo et al. 2013, Lee et al. 2011). Moreover, the vehicle *speed*, including acceleration, can be used to evaluate the driving performance. Previous studies compared speed before and within work zones to evaluate whether drivers comply with the speed limit (Whitmire et al. 2011). After knowing the speed from different points, the acceleration and deceleration can be calculated to evaluate the driving performance, including acceleration and deceleration of the vehicle and lateral acceleration (Birrell and Young 2011, Reymond et al. 2001, Vignali et al. 2019). Particularly, average speed reduction can be used to evaluate the effectiveness of traffic signs (Vignali et al. 2019). *Lateral position* (lane keeping) means the position of a vehicle on the road in relation to the center of the lane. Mean lateral position is the most commonly used indicator to measure the lateral position (Fisher et al. 2011). Finally, *steering wheel angle* indicates the movement of the steering wheel to measure whether the driver controls the vehicle appropriately (Reed and Green 1999).

SHORT-TERM MEMORY

Short-term memory indicates the temporary working memory of drivers (Reimer et al. 2012). It indicates faculties of the human mind that can hold a limited amount of information in a very accessible state temporarily (Cowan 2008). The system is specialized for the temporary storage of information within particular informational domains (St Clair-Thompson 2010). The maximum length of short-term memory is 60 s (Shao 2010). Three aspects of short-term memory are shown in table 4.

Indicators	Definitions	References
Ability to Control Attention	The ability to inhibit irrelevant information	Hasher et al. (1999)
Recall Ability	Retrieval of past information	St Clair-Thompson (2010)
Speed of Item Identification and Item Processing	The ability to identify and process an item	Case et al. (1982)

 Table 4. Short-term memory indicators.

The *ability to control attention* indicates to what extent the drivers can inhibit any activated but goal-irrelevant information (Hasher et al. 1999). It requires cognitive engagement to prevent interference (Espy and Bull 2005). The irrelevant information indicates meaningful information that may distract drivers (Kane et al. 2001). *Recall ability* aims to measure how much the drivers can retrieve past information (St Clair-Thompson 2010). It is often measured by recall tasks about vision following the experiment procedure (Averbach and Coriell 1961, Reimer et al. 2012). *Speed of item identification and processing* means the drivers' ability to identify and process the items when testing their short-term memory (Case et al. 1982).

CHAPTER 3. DATA COLLECTION

The data collection process of this project can be divided into the following parts:

- 1. Identify a rural road curve section with a high risk of crashes as the case study in the project.
- 2. Identify the countermeasures that can impact traffic safety in rural road curve areas to be the key independent variables in the project.
- Prepare the driving simulation and scenario modeling using a driving simulator to simulate the selected case and countermeasures
- 4. Model the scenarios with different weather conditions and traffic flows.
- 5. Identify the population and sample of the experiment.
- 6. Clarify the experiment procedure and prepare all the materials (e.g., questionnaires, driving simulator, eye tracker, etc.) to collect data during the experiment, including demographic information, eye movements, driving performance, and short-term memory.
- 7. Invite the possible participants and perform the data collection process.

CASE STUDY

The rural road is a significant part of the transportation system in the United States (Eason et al. 1955). Curves on rural roads are recognized as one of the most dangerous types of road section. Horizontal curves are changes in the alignment or direction of the road including right and left turn, while vertical curves are a change in the slope including sag curves and crest curves. Although horizontal-curve road sections only account for a small portion of the roadway, almost 25 percent of all fatal highway crashes occur at horizontal curve sections (Mauriello et al. 2018). McLean (1981) investigated the driver speed behavior, showing that most drivers traverse the curve section exceeding the design speed. Also, an experiment by Lehtonen et al. (2012) showed that drivers look at the occlusion point when driving on the rural road curve section, where working memory load leads to a significant decrease in visual anticipation. Run-off-the-road and head-on crashes are two main crash types, which account for 87 percent of the fatal crashes at horizontal curves (Wang et al. 2018). On the road curve section, drivers' behaviors will be impacted by the characteristics of the road curve section, including the radius of curve, length of curve, and presence of a shoulder (Zwahlen and Schnell 1996). In addition, the historical crash data in GA (Cotton et al. 2010, GGOHS 2017) showed that roads in rural counties had the highest risk; state and county roads were the road types with the highest number of vehicle fatalities in GA. This project is devoted to a segment of rural road, i.e., Cypress Lake Road, Statesboro, GA, with both horizontal and vertical curves, as shown in figure 1.



Figure 1. Map. Cypress Lake Road, Statesboro, GA.

The road segment is around 3,000 ft (0.57 mile) long. It has a 30-ft difference in elevation between the starting and ending points for a length of 0.4 mile, i.e., a grade of about 1.3 percent, as shown in figure 2. From north to south, the curve is in a left turn; it is a right turn when driving from south to north.



Figure 2. Diagram. Road grade of Cypress Lake Road.

To consider a more common situation of rural road curve section, both left and right turns were included in this study. In the simulation, the testing section was created by connecting a left turn and right turn, i.e., a curve from north to south followed by a curve from south to north, as shown in figure 3.



Figure 3. Map. Scenario road setup showing both left and right curves.

Thus, the total length of the simulated road section was about 6,000 ft, with a left turn of 3,000 ft followed by a right turn with the same parameters. In addition, two different traffic flows (i.e., *light* and *heavy*) and two different weather conditions (i.e., *clear* and *foggy*) were selected in the case study (Alexander et al. 20022002, Rizzo et al. 2003). The foggy weather included limited visibility. Rain was not selected as a weather condition simply due to the limitation of the simulator used for this study.

COUNTERMEASURES

Several countermeasures have been used in previous studies to improve curve safety. Using the GDOT road design policy (GDOT 2021b), a matrix of countermeasures was selected, as shown in table 5.

Number	Countermeasures	Curve Type	Category	References	MUTCD Code
#1	Centerline Pavement Marking	НС	Pavement Marking	Charlton (2007)	Section 3B.01-C (Two-direction no-passing zone markings)
#2	Edge Line Pavement Marking	HC	Pavement Marking	Charlton (2007)	Section 3B.06-A
#3	Shoulder Rumble Strips	HC	Pavement Marking	Räsänen (2005)	Section 3J.01
#4	Flexible delineator posts	НС	Pavement Marking	Zhao et al. (2020)	Section 3B.11
#5	Posted Speed Sign	HC	Signage	Charlton (2007), Zwahlen (1987)	Section 2C.08; W13-1P
#6	Curve Warning Sign	HC	Signage	Charlton (2007), Zwahlen (1987)	Section 2C.07; W1-2
#7	Curve Speed Warning Sign	HC	Signage	Charlton (2007), Zwahlen (1987)	W1-2+ W13-1P
#8	Increased Shoulder Width	НС	Roadway Improvement	Charlton (2007), Gross et al. (2009)	N/A
#9	Changed Horizontal Curve Curvature	HC	Roadway Improvement	Saleem and Persaud (2017)	N/A
#10	Decreased Curve Grade on Negative Grade	VC	Roadway Improvement	Bauer and Harwood (2013)	N/A
#11	Increased Curve Grade on Positive Grade	VC	Roadway Improvement	Bauer and Harwood (2013)	N/A

Table 5. Summary of countermeasures used for this project.

Notes: HC: Horizontal curve; VC: Vertical curve

There are three categories of curve section road countermeasures: pavement marking, signage, and roadway improvement. First, *pavement markings* (countermeasures #1–4) impact drivers' behaviors by providing separation between lanes, as well as enhancing lane-keeping ability (Charlton 2007, Lenné et al. 2011, Räsänen 2005, Zhao et al. 2020). Pavement markings include centerline and edge line, shoulder rumble strips, and flexible delineator posts. They are effective countermeasures to reduce traffic crashes and improve safety. Second, *signage* (countermeasures

#5–7) reminds drivers by providing road information in advance of the curve. Both speed limit signs and curve warning signs have effects on drivers' eye scanning and performance (Charlton 2007, Zwahlen 1987). Signage includes posted speed signs, curve warning signs, and curve speed warning signs. For the pavement markings and signages, the standard designs from the driving simulation system were directly used without any modification. Third, the *roadway improvement* category (countermeasures #8–11) covers the physical changes to the curve, including the shoulder width, horizontal curve curvature, and curve grades. Increasing shoulder width makes curves more forgiving to improve traffic safety (Charlton 2007, Gross et al. 2009). Also, the horizontal curve curvature significantly impacts the crash reduction rate (CRR) (Saleem and Persaud 2017). In addition, curve grade is a critical factor for traffic safety in rural two-lane highways (Bauer and Harwood 2013). This study aimed to further explore drivers' responses to these countermeasures through a simulator experiment.

DRIVING SIMULATION SETUP AND MODELING PLAN

STISIM Drive® was the driving simulator used in this study. This system makes it possible to achieve a very close simulation to real driving and also provides real-time data when in use. It is a system designed to give a high-level simulation performance with a 60-degree field of the driver's vision. The system provides for a realistic detailed road environment with little to no programming experience needed, and its manual is very detailed regarding the programming of the scenarios. An eye tracker, Tobii Eye Tracker 4C, was used for this project. This eye tracker was originally limited to certain data, but the Pro upgrade key made it possible to access the Tobii Pro lab or any Tobii Pro software for advanced analysis and access to extended data set information.

This portable eye tracker is centralized and attached to the lower frame of the monitor and connected to the simulator computer by a single USB cable. Figure 4 shows the combined system of the eye tracker and the driving simulator that was used to collect data. The driving simulation was done in the Transportation Safety Research lab, which means the distractions can be reduced as limited people were given access to the lab during the social distancing protocol of pandemic period. A Next level Racing GT Simulator Cockpit was used for the drivers to adjust the position so that a close to realistic driving experience can obtained. A 27-inch monitor was used as the simulation display unit. A Logitech driving force racing wheel was used as the driver steering wheel. It has dimensions (Width x Height x Depth) of Wheel unit 10.24 x 10.63 x 10.94" (260 x 270 x 278 mm) and Pedals unit 16.87 x 6.57 x 12.24" (428.5 x 167 x 311 mm). The driving simulator displayed the road scenario on a display monitor. The eye tracker then recorded images of users' eye movements and patterns through cameras with the help of image processing algorithms to determine the eyes' position and gaze point on the driving simulator display screen. This process is described in the flowchart in figure 5.



Figure 4. Photo. Combined driving simulator and eye tracker system.



Figure 5. Flowchart. How the combined system worked.

Before this system could accomplish the goal, a model plan was necessary for proper and exact implementation of the simulation in order to match the required scenarios, i.e., the combination of weather condition and traffic flow. Figure 6 is the simulation model plan made by the research team. In the model plan, 11 countermeasures were to be implemented over different major scenarios of weather and traffic flow. Based on this model plan for implementation, the simulation was split into four combinations of two weather conditions and two traffic flows to achieve the entire plan. Each section of the simulation is listed below:

- Combination 1 Light traffic flow with clear weather
- Combination 2 Light traffic flow with foggy weather
- Combination 3 Heavy traffic flow with clear weather
- Combination 4 Heavy traffic flow with foggy weather

As the names imply, each combination had a varying control scenario, but all the countermeasures were kept the same. Due to the varying control scenarios of different weather conditions and traffic flows, the time duration of the simulation needed was, in most cases, different as the scenario varied. This is because driving will be easier for light traffic flow than for heavy traffic. All four simulation combinations had the same road distance setting and all countermeasures, with only the different control setting scenarios. For combination 1 and combination 2, which had a light traffic setting, an average time of 18 minutes was required to complete the simulation combinations. Due to the presence of heavy traffic flow in combination 3 and combination 4, the average time to complete those simulations rose by 10 minutes, taking the average time to 28 minutes.



Figure 6. Diagram. Simulation model plan.

SCENARIO MODELING

For this system, the 11 countermeasures selected to be implemented in the driving simulator are shown in table 5. For the simulation, a total of 11 runs were created in each simulation combination. Each run consisted of a combination of countermeasures that were tested. Table 6 shows the various runs and the countermeasures present for each run. From table 6, countermeasure 1 (centerline pavement marking of a solid double yellow line with a width of 6 inches) is the basic one that existed in each run. Also, countermeasure 2 (edge line pavement marking of a solid white line with a width of 6 inches) was added as another basic countermeasure for runs 2 to 11. This was necessary because of the off-road and lane position data that the system collects in order to evaluate driving performance at each run. Then,

countermeasures 3 - 11 were added based on the basic two countermeasures respectively to test the impact of each countermeasure.

Runs Present in	Countermeasures	
Each Combination	Present in Each Run	Note: Countermeasures
(Run=R)	(Countermeasure=C)	
R1	C1	C1=Centerline Pavement Marking
R2	C1, C2	C2=Edge Line Pavement Marking
R3	C1, C2, C3	C3=Shoulder Rumble Strips
R4	C1, C2, C4	C4=Flexible delineator posts
R5	C1, C2, C5	C5=Posted Speed Sign
R6	C1, C2, C6	C6=Curve Warning Sign
R7	C1, C2, C7	C7=Curve Speed Warning Sign
R8	C1, C2, C8	C8=Increased Shoulder Width
R9	C1, C2, C9	C9=Changed Horizontal Curve Curvature
R10	C1, C2, C10	C10=Decreased Curve Grade on Negative Grade
R11	C1, C2, C11	C11=Increased Curve Grade on Positive Grade

Table 6. Runs and countermeasures for each combination.

Creating a scenario using this simulator required descriptive programming. In descriptive programming, the user calls together already-provided files in order to give the required output. For example, in order to implement the scenario in figure 7, all components were already provided by the software in a file; what was required was to locate the file address and arrange the scenario based on how the components were to be displayed. In figure 7, a total of five components were called: (1) the roadway, which can be set to different types based on preference. The roadway in this case is referred to the road and its major feature like how many lanes it would have or what type of road either a rough sandy road or a tar road depending on the requirement; (2) the road sign, which in this case was a curve ahead speed limit sign. Many road signs can be implemented as long as the sign can be found in the model library; (3) the weather condition, which was set to be foggy; (4) an incoming road vehicle; and (5) the roadway lines,
which includes the edge line and centerline markings on the road. All these components can be changed to match different preferences, but all the possible models are located in the model library, which can be found accompanied by the software file.¹

Figure 8 and figure 9 show the left and right turns simulated in the project. Figure 10–figure 13 show the different combinations for the full simulations: Figure 10 and figure 12 show the simulation parts that dealt with clear weather and different traffic flow types, while figure 11 and figure 13 show the simulation parts that dealt with foggy weather with the different traffic flows. Following those, figure 14–figure 21 show the countermeasures that were implemented on the horizontal curve, which include the centerline pavement marking, edge line pavement marking, shoulder rumble strips, flexible delineator posts, posted speed sign, curve warning sign, curve speed warning sign and increased shoulder width. For all the countermeasures, the researcher selected standard designs in the driving simulation system. In implementing the shoulder rumble strips scenario from figure 16, rumble strips were not very visible, and the vibration feedback that is felt from the actual shoulder rumble was not possible to achieve. As a close alternative, the shoulder region of the road was changed to a sand setting and a noise effect alone was used. In figure 18, the speed sign scenario involved a change in set posted speed. The speed limit for the simulation was set at 45 mph, but in this scenario the speed limit was changed by decreasing the set limit by 10 mph on the sign. Countermeasures such as the change in curve curvature and the increase or decrease in curve grade, which are vertical curve countermeasures, could not be illustrated in figure form due to the inability to properly capture the desired change.

¹ Although all scenarios were implementable, the STISIM Drive available for this study was a basic version. For future studies, the simulator could be easily updated, and those studies using a higher version would be capable of much more than with the basic version. The higher version would give access to open modules that make it possible to implement a custom design for the roadway setting and even create a dynamic event. It also would provide a wider view of the road setting compared to the view seen in figure 7.



Figure 7. Screenshot. Basic scenario model example.



Figure 8. Screenshot. Left turn in the simulation.



Figure 9. Screenshot. Right turn in the simulation.



Figure 10. Screenshot. Combination 1 – Light traffic flow with clear weather.



Figure 11. Screenshot. Combination 2 – Light traffic flow with foggy weather.



Figure 12. Screenshot. Combination 3 – Heavy traffic flow with clear weather.



Figure 13. Screenshot. Combination 4 – Heavy traffic flow with foggy weather.



Figure 14. Screenshot. Countermeasure 1 – Centerline pavement marking.



Figure 15. Screenshot. Countermeasure 2 – Edge line pavement marking.



Figure 16. Screenshot. Countermeasure 3 – Shoulder rumble strips.



Figure 17. Screenshot. Countermeasure 4 – Flexible delineator posts.



Figure 18. Screenshot. Countermeasure 5 – Posted speed sign.



Figure 19. Screenshot. Countermeasure 6 – Curve warning sign.



Figure 20. Screenshot. Countermeasure 7 – Curve speed warning sign.



Figure 21. Screenshot. Countermeasure 8 – Increased shoulder width.

POPULATION AND SAMPLE

A total of 60 participants were chosen as the set sample size for the simulation experiment in order to collect data. The 60 participants were required to match different demographic distribution designs, including age, ethnicity, marital status, etc., as discussed in the demographic indicators section in chapter 2. Due to the lengthy time of the simulations, the performance of the driver could vary between the very beginning and the end of the experiment. Thus, to reduce the bias of the data that favored one combination of the simulation, participants were split into four sets with a different sequence of simulation combinations. The trial phase of the simulation showed that participants usually experienced dizziness due to staring at a screen for a long period of time, which affected the drivers' performance such that they would be active at the first section of the simulation and upon reaching the last part, their activity levels would drop, causing a decline in driver performance. This issue led to the grouping of the participants to attain an

even set of data that is well balanced. In grouping the participants, each group took a different set of arrangements for the simulation. They are as follows:

Sequence 1 = Combination 1—Combination 3—Combination 4—Combination 2 Sequence 2 = Combination 3—Combination 2—Combination 1—Combination 4 Sequence 3 = Combination 2—Combination 4—Combination 3—Combination 1 Sequence 4 = Combination 4—Combination 1—Combination 2

The four sequences can contribute to reduce the impact of the different starting time of each combination. The driving simulator system, which is the STISIM Drive, can collect data based on the participant's drive. The specific data collected by the driving simulator for this study were the following 38 indicators:

- Elapsed time (s) since the beginning of the run.
- Longitudinal acceleration (ft/s^2 or m/s^2) of the driven vehicle.
- Lateral acceleration (ft/s^2 or m/s^2) of the driven vehicle.
- Longitudinal velocity (ft/s or m/s) of the driven vehicle.
- Lateral velocity (ft/s or m/s) of the driven vehicle.
- Total longitudinal distance traveled (ft or m) by the driven vehicle since the beginning of the run.
- Lateral lane position (ft or m) of the driven vehicle with respect to the roadway dividing line, positive to the right.
- Vehicle curvature (1/ft or 1/m), the curved path the driven vehicle is following based on the driver's steering and speed.
- Current roadway curvature (1/ft or 1/m).

- Vehicle heading angle (°).
- Steering wheel angle input (°).
- For the simple dynamics: longitudinal acceleration due to throttle (ft/s^2 or m/s^2).
- For the simple dynamics: longitudinal acceleration due to the brakes (ft/s^2) .
- Running compilation of driver crashes.
- Minimum time to collision (s) (TTC) for the current simulation frame. During each simulation frame, the TTC for each vehicle traveling in the driver's initial direction² will be computed and the lowest overall value of TTC will be used.
- Driver vehicle speedometer value (mph or km/hr).
- Vehicle yaw rate (rad/s).
- Current transmission gear.
- Steering input counts. Actual raw steering wheel input directly from the steering wheel.
- Gas pedal input counts. Actual raw input directly from the gas pedal.
- Brake pedal input counts. Actual raw input directly from the brake pedal.
- Total pitching angle (rad), includes both ground slope and vehicle motion.
- Total rolling angle (rad), includes both ground slope and vehicle motion.
- Steering wheel angular rate (rad/s).
- Minimum TTC (s) between the driver's vehicle and all vehicles in the driver's direction.
- Minimum range (ft or m) between the driver's vehicle and all vehicles in the driver's direction.
- Minimum TTC (s) between the driver's vehicle and all vehicles opposing the driver's direction.

² This does not work correctly if the driver does a U-turn.

- Minimum range (ft or m) between the driver's vehicle and all vehicles opposing the driver's direction.
- Driver's response time (s) to any divided attention tasks.
- Current speed limit (ft/s or m/s).
- Current speed limit (mph or km/hr).
- Engine revolutions per minute (RPM) value.
- Minimum TTC (s) between the driver's vehicle and all cross-traffic vehicles in the driver's direction.
- Minimum range (ft or m) between the driver's vehicle and all cross-traffic vehicles in the driver's direction.
- Minimum TTC (s) between the driver's vehicle and all pedestrians that are within the extents of the driver's vehicle.
- Minimum range (ft or m) between the driver's vehicle and all pedestrians that are within the extents of the driver's vehicle.
- Absolute value of lateral acceleration (ft/s^2 or m/s^2).
- Absolute value of steering wheel angle (°).

METHODOLOGY AND MATERIALS

The design of the experimental procedure is shown in figure 22. The steps below were followed:

- 1. When inviting participants, an introduction and explanation were provided to briefly introduce the experiment and project.
- 2. Before the experiment, the demographic information was collected by questionnaire.

- 3. During the driving simulation, the eye movements and driving performance data were collected by the eye tracker and driving simulator.
- 4. After each combination of the experiment, the participants' short-term memory was measured via questionnaires.
- 5. After the experiment, a post-survey was conducted to record participants' experiences and comments.



Figure 22. Flowchart. Experiment procedure.

Demographic Information

A pre-experiment survey collected participants' demographics. According to the indicators mentioned in the literature review, the pre-survey questionnaire covered three parts: basic information, household status and habits, and driving experience. First, the basic information covered the location, ethnicity, gender, age, education, and occupation of participants to record the basic demographics. Then, the household status and habits covered the marital status, annual household income, visual ability, glasses-wearing habit, smoking habit, and alcohol consumption

habit. For the annual household income, data had indicated that the median household income of Georgia was \$58,765 in 2018, and the highest share was 75K–100K (ACS 2018). Thus, the research team set the ranges of choices for this question according to that data. Finally, the driving experience portion asked about the driving experiences, average driving hours per week, and past crash or ticket record. The pre-survey questionnaire is attached in the appendix A: pre-survey.

Eye Movements and Driving Performance

The participants' eye movements were collected by eye tracker during the driving simulation. The indicators included pupillometry, saccade, and fixation to measure the cognitive workload, attention pattern and shifts, level of interests, and the difficulty of information extraction and understanding, as shown in table 7.

Category	Definition	Indicators	Meaning	Measurement/Unit
Pupillometry	Diameter of	Changes of pupil diameter	Cognitive workload	Variance of pupil diameter left and right (mm ²)
	pupn	Average pupil diameter	Cognitive workload	Mean of pupil diameter left and right (mm)
		Saccade duration	Attention pattern (dispersed)	Mean of saccade durations (ms)
Saccade	Fast eye movements between different fixation points	Number of saccades	Attention shifts	Number of saccades
		Saccade distance	Attention shifts	Mean of movement distance of the eye between fixation points (pixel)
		Saccade speed	Attention shifts	Mean of speed of movement of the eye between fixation points (pixel/ms)
	Eye movements located within a	Number of fixations	Level of interest	Number of fixations
Fixation	spatially limited region for a minimum period	Fixation duration	Difficulty of information extraction and understanding	Mean of fixation duration (ms)

Table 7. Factors of eye movements

Meanwhile, the participants' driving performance was collected using a driving simulator. There were 38 indicators collected by the driving simulator in the experiment. The factors that were used in the study to measure driving performance, including crash, speed, steering wheel angle, and lateral lane position, are shown in table 8.

Category	Indicators	Measures	Scale/unit	
Crash	Number of any contact	Running compilation of driver	Number	
Clash	with an object	crashes	Number	
	Vehicle speed	Driver vehicle speedometer value	m/hr	
Speed	Acceleration and	Absolute value of longitudinal	ft/s^2	
speed	deceleration	acceleration	10/8	
	Lateral acceleration	Absolute value of lateral acceleration	ft/s ²	
	Steering wheel engle	Absolute value of steering wheel	dograas (°)	
	Steering wheel angle	angle		
Others		Lateral lane position of the driven		
	Lateral lane position vehicle to the roadway dividing line,		ft	
		positive to the right		

Table 8. Factors of driving performance.

Note: Six types of crashes can be collected by the simulator: 1 = Vehicle collisions; 2 = Off-road collisions; 3 = Collisions with pedestrians; 4 = Collisions with lane markers (e.g., barrels, cones, etc.); 5 = Collisions with Jersey barriers; 6 = Collisions with collision blocks.

Short-term Memory

The participants' short-term memory was collected by a questionnaire survey after each combination of the different weather conditions and traffic flows. The indicators included recall ability, the ability to control attention, and speed of item identification and processing, as shown in table 9. The survey is attached in the appendix B: short-term memory questionnaire.

To gauge the *recall ability*, the pictures of nine countermeasures that could be seen in the simulation were presented, such as the curve warning sign, centerline pavement marking, etc. The picture included the sign or marking itself rather than the whole scenario to ensure no additional information was available to remind the participants. Participants were asked to check the countermeasures they remembered in order to evaluate their recall ability immediately after driving. Then, for measurement of the *ability to control attention*, the questionnaire displayed pictures of cars to allow the participants to check whether they had noticed those cars during the experiment; the vehicles were meaningful but irrelevant objects around the countermeasures. The survey covered four questions in different difficulty levels. The first question asked the

participants to randomly select two cars from five completely different cars. Then, the second question used the same cars with different colors. The third question covered different cars of the same color. The last question asked for the sequence of the cars' appearance during the experiment. These survey questions were able to check whether other information distracted the drivers' attention. Finally, for the *speed of item identification and processing*, the 5-point Likert scale was used to let the participants self-evaluate.

Indicators	Definitions	Measurement
Ability to Control Attention	Ability to inhibit irrelevant information	Whether participant noticed the cars during the simulation
Recall Ability	Retrieval of past information	Whether participant saw the countermeasures during the simulation
Speed of Item Identification and Processing	Ability of identifying and processing an item	How confident is the participant in ability to identify the countermeasures quickly and accurately (5-point Likert scale)?

 Table 9. Factors of short-term memory.

Post-survey

Finally, a post-survey was conducted to measure the experiences of participants. The questions covered the dizziness or other symptoms, the effect of taking breaks or not, the experiences of using the eye tracker, whether the incentive encouraged them to participate in the experiment, and the helpfulness of the research team. The survey is attached in the appendix C: post-survey.

DATA COLLECTION PROCESS

Collecting data from 60 participants requires planning and organization. This was not an easy task, as the issues arising—such as special safety protocols for COVID-19, participant

rescheduling due to cancellation, or even failure to show up. In figure 23, a detailed flowchart of the data collection process is provided.



Figure 23. Flowchart. Data collection process.

To start the process, an invitation letter was sent by email, out to the residents of the populating region. Within this invitation letter was a link to a form to fill out online, making it possible to select participants carefully in order to match the demographic indicators set. The research team reached out to selected participants in order to schedule an appointment to come in, as well as to complete the pre-survey document. Participants who were not able to make their appointment were given the option to reschedule. Those who did come in were then given a consent form and a COVID-19 screening form to go over. Hand sanitizer was then passed out to participants and the driving simulator equipment was sanitized between participants. Each participant was given a

number based on the 60 required participants. After all the forms were filled and the participant was settled at the simulator, the participant would undergo an eye calibration test, which then began the driving simulation's official data collection. The simulation sequence would be determined based on the participant's number and, according to that sequence, the first simulation combination of weather and traffic would begin for that participant. After the first simulation combination of weather and traffic, a short-term memory questionnaire was given to the participant based on that simulation combination. After completing the questionnaire, the participant was given the option to go on a short break or continue. After the opportunity for a break, the participant went on to the next combination and another break session, if desired. The same process went on until the last simulation combination, after which the participant took the short-term memory questionnaire and also filled out a post-survey document. That concluded the data collection for that participant. All data were then saved into a file based on the participant's number.

CHAPTER 4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

Data analysis was conducted for four different purposes with four various mathematic tools/methods, as shown in figure 24. Combining all the results, a comprehensive discussion was used to further explain and summarize all the findings, as follows:

- Descriptive analysis was conducted to summarize the demographic information of the 60 participants and the short-term memory data from the questionnaires.
- 2. Analysis of variance (ANOVA) tests were applied to compare the eye movements, driving performance, and short-term memory among the countermeasures, combinations of weather and traffic, sequence of different combinations, and order of each combination. Specifically, how the countermeasures impact the eye movements indicators and driving performance indicators were discussed.
- 3. Heat maps and gaze plots were used to achieve the visualization of attention distribution and intensity of drivers.
- 4. Machine learning was used to examine the relationships between the countermeasures, cognition indicators, and traffic safety. The relationships can be divided into three parts: regression model between countermeasures and traffic safety (number of crashes), regression model between countermeasures and drivers' cognition (eye movements indicators), and regression model between drivers' cognition and traffic crashes.

This chapter presents the results of these analyses, as well as their discussions.



Figure 24. Flowchart. Data analysis process.

DESCRIPTIVE ANALYSIS

Based on the demographic data and the short-term memory data, charts were used to represent the distribution or note significant changes. In this section, as the name implies, a summary of the statistical analysis is displayed, i.e., an analysis of the basic features of the data in this study.

Demographic Data Analysis

Based on the data of demographic indicators from the 60 participants, a chart analysis was done. Figure 25 shows the gender breakdown of all participants; a total of 35 males and 25 females participated. Figure 26 and figure 27 show the ethnicity breakdown of all participants. The data display that the white ethnicity was a major ethnic group for both male and female genders among the participants. The next demographic indicator is the distribution of the age of the participants, as shown in figure 28. The majority of participants were in the ages between 25 to 34; however, a further breakdown of the age groups according to the common practice for traffic safety analysis is presented in figure 28. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the research team faced difficulties in recruiting senior participants as planned, leading to a huge percent of young group. The next demographic breakdown (figure 29) is participants' driving experience grouped based on fewer or greater than 5 years. The majority were experienced drivers, as they had more than 5 years of driving experience. Finally, Table 10 is the breakdown of participant data based on smoking habits and alcohol consumption. No participant was identified as a frequent smoker and frequent consumer of alcohol, but a large number of participants identified as consuming alcohol occasionally. In the case of smoking, more participants identified under the class of not smoking at all than those who identified as occasional smokers.



Figure 25. Pie graph. Breakdown of participants by gender.



Figure 26. Pie graph. Breakdown of female participants by ethnicity.



Figure 27. Pie graph. Breakdown of male participants by ethnicity.



Figure 28. Pie graph. Breakdown of participants by age.



Figure 29. Pie graph. Breakdown of participants by driving experience.

Table	10.	Breakdown	of	partici	pants	by si	moking	and	alcohol	consum	ption.
				F							

Indicator	Frequently (%)	Occasionally (%)	Not at All (%)
Alcohol	0.0	73.0	27.0
Smoking	0.0	47.0	53.0

Short-term Memory Data Analysis

A chart analysis was performed based on the short-term memory questions given to the

participants at the end of each simulation. This analysis was centered on the three tests that the

short-term memory questions aimed to investigate (see the appendix B: short-term memory questionnaire). For each short-term memory questionnaire, images of the countermeasures were presented. These images were used to test the preciseness of their recall ability. In the first three parts of the short-term memory questions, a set of five cars was displayed on the survey forms from which the participants were to select. Only two of the five cars actually appeared in each combination of the simulation. The participants were asked to identify the two vehicles that had appeared. The last part was a test of the drivers' pattern identification ability, as participants were required to recall the order in which a set of cars drove past them in the simulation. Table 11 shows the mean, median, and mode values of all participants for each simulation combination; these were used to assess the accuracy of the recall test from the short-term memory questions. The mean values showed that participants' recall ability was lower in the simulation combination of heavy traffic and clear weather. More participants could successfully recall all images except in the simulation combination of light traffic with clear weather, this is because as seen from table 11, the mode for the other three combinations is higher (i.e. 100%) compared to that of the combination of light traffic with clear weather (i.e. 88.89).

Combinations	Mean (%)	Median (%)	Mode (%)
Light Traffic with Clear Weather	88.15	88.89	88.89
Light Traffic with Foggy Weather	89.08	88.89	100.00
Heavy Traffic with Clear Weather	86.11	88.89	100.00
Heavy Traffic with Foggy Weather	86.67	100.00	100.00

Table 11. Breakdown of recall test for all participants.

Figure 30 to figure 32 are pie graphs of the item identification ability for the first three simulation combinations. As shown in these figures, more participants got all items correct in combination 1, but then combination 2 had the lowest number of participants who got none

correct. As shown in figure 31, participants had more problems identifying the items in this situation, as it recorded the lowest number of correct answers. Figure 33 shows the number of participants who got the pattern identification placed properly in the short-term memory question for combination 4. Half of the participants were able to identify the correct pattern.



Figure 30. Pie graph. Item identification analysis breakdown for combination 1.



Figure 31. Pie graph. Item identification analysis breakdown for combination 2.



Figure 32. Pie graph. Item identification analysis breakdown for combination 3.



Figure 33. Pie graph. Pattern identification analysis breakdown for combination 4.

ANOVA TEST FOR EYE MOVEMENTS, DRIVING PERFORMANCE, AND MEMORY

To determine whether there were significant differences in drivers' eye movements, driving performance, and short-term memory capacities among the 11 different countermeasures, a one-way ANOVA analysis was performed. RStudio® and SAS® software were applied to conduct the statistical analysis of the collected data. The analysis results can provide a better insight into this methodology and empirical evidence to the effectiveness of different countermeasures,

which can help engineers to select the optimal countermeasures in similar locations, to reduce crashes and increase road safety. Also, the ANOVA test was applied to evaluate whether significant differences existed between the four simulation combinations of different weather conditions and traffic flows.

To explain the ANOVA test, the hypothesis for examining the impact of countermeasures on the number of crashes (which is one indicator for driving performance) is listed below as an example.

Ho: drivers had the same number of crashes under all the countermeasures: $\mu_1 = \mu_2 =$

 $\mu_3 = \cdots = \mu_{11} = c$

Ha: at least one of the group means of crashes was different from the others: $\mu_i \neq c$

In the results, when p > 0.05, *Ho* is accepted. Thus, there was no significant difference in the number of crashes between the 11 countermeasures. On the contrary, if p < 0.05, *Ha* is accepted, which means at least one countermeasure had a different number of crashes than the others.

Where,

 μ_i is the group mean value for countermeasure *i*.

c is a constant value.

p is the p-value of the ANOVA test.

Based on the settings of 11 countermeasures in 11 experiment runs as explained in table 6 (page 25), ANOVA tests were divided into two parts: (1) comparison between the first (centerline) and the second run to test the impact of the edge line pavement marking (countermeasure 2); and (2) comparisons between the second and the remaining nine runs to examine the impacts of

countermeasures 3–11. Here, the impact of countermeasure 1 (centerline pavement marking) was not compared because it is regarded as a basic countermeasure. Then, for the four combinations of weather conditions and traffic flow, an ANOVA test was performed using the four combinations as the independent variable. Eye movements, driving performance, and short-term memory indicators were used as dependent variables, respectively.

Eye Movements

Eye Movements Between Countermeasures

Table 12 shows the results of ANOVA tests for the eight eye movements indicators. Countermeasure 2 (edge line pavement marking) did not have significant impact on the number of saccades (p = 0.10) and saccade duration (p = 0.17); however, all the other six indicators were significantly impacted by this countermeasure (p < 0.01). Then, for the impacts of countermeasures 3–11, average pupil diameter (p = 0.97), number of saccades (p = 0.13), and saccade duration (p = 0.76) did not have significant differences, while the other five eye movements indicators had significant differences.

	ANOVA Test								
Variables			Impact of Cou	ntermeasure 2					
	Source	Df	Sum Sq	Mean Sq	F value	Pr(>F)			
Changes of Pupil	Model	1	0.88	0.88	196.54	< 0.01			
Diameter	Error	474	2.13	0.00					
Average Pupil	Model	1	5.88	5.88	31.98	< 0.01			
Diameter	Error	474	87.18	0.18					
Casada Duration	Model	1	146.13	146.13	2.78	0.10			
Saccade Duration	Error	474	24,955.32	ANOVA Test pact of Countermeasure 2 $m Sq$ $M ean Sq$ $F value Pr (0.88 0.88 196.54 <()$					
Number of	Model	1	250,522.26	250,522.26	1.86	0.17			
Saccades	Error	474	63,885,400.74	134,779.33					
Sacada Distance	Model	1	839,224.83	839,224.83	257.76	< 0.01			
Saccade Distance	Error	474	1,543,245.40	3,255.79					
Casaada Craad	Model	1	3,419.30	9,224.83 839,224.83 257.76 3,245.40 3,255.79 3,419.30 359.09 4,513.47 9.52 1,115.43 10.14 4,832.26 7,014.41 0,246.32 21.55 2,912.88 12,073.66 11	< 0.01				
Saccade Speed	Error	474	4,513.47	9.52					
Number of	Model	1	71,115.43	71,115.43	10.14	< 0.01			
Fixations	Error	474	3,324,832.26	7,014.41					
Einstian Dunstian	Model	1	260,246.32	260,246.32	21.55	< 0.01			
Fixation Duration	Error	474	5,722,912.88	12,073.66					
	Impact of Countermeasures 3–11								
	Source	Impact of CourtDfSum Sq		Mean Sq	F value	Pr(>F)			
Changes of Pupil	Model	9	0.07	0.01	4.93	< 0.01			
Diameter	Error	2344	3.70	0.00					
Average Pupil	Model	9	0.53	0.06	0.32	0.97			
Diameter	Error	2344	429.97	0.18					
Seconda Duration	Model	9	323.01	35.89	0.64	0.76			
Saccade Duration	Error	2362	132,329.75	5.30 $5.419.30$ 539.09 <0 5.47 9.52 $ 5.43 71,115.43 10.14 <0 2.26 7,014.41 5.32 260,246.32 21.55 <0 2.88 12,073.66 Countermeasures 3–11 Mean Sq F value Pr (> 0.07 0.01 4.93 <0 0.70 0.00 $					
Number of	Model	9	2,017,188.00	224,132.00	1.53	0.13			
Saccades	Error	2362	346,463,032.00	146,682.10					
Seconda Distance	Model	9	367,326.59	40,814.07	9.46	< 0.01			
Saccade Distance	Error	2359	10,181,355.32	4,315.96					
Seconda Smood	Model	9	943.25	104.81	9.47	< 0.01			
Saccade Speed	Error	2359	26,117.70	11.07					
Number of	Model	9	649,739.49	72,193.28	8.48	< 0.01			
Fixations	Error	2362	20,114,438.36	8,515.85					
Eivation Dynatics	Model	9	377,142.58	41,904.73	3.23	< 0.01			
Fixation Duration	Error	2362	30,653,506.79	12,977.78					

Table 12. Results of ANOVA tests for eye movements and countermeasures.

Table 13 shows the mean values and standard deviations of indicators under each run. The eight eye movements indicators and their meanings will be discussed individually.

	Variables (unit)											
	Chang	es of	Average	Pupil	Saccada		Number of					
Countermeasures	Pupil Dia	ameter	Diam	eter	Duratio	auc n (ms)		ades				
	(mn	1 ²)	(mm)		Duration (IIIs)		Saccaues					
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD				
1	0.13	0.09	3.44	0.43	28.30	6.65	484.66	309.63				
1&2	0.04	0.04	3.22	0.43	27.19	7.82	530.54	417.16				
1&2&3	0.04	0.04	3.22	0.42	27.01	7.71	519.71	402.35				
1&2&4	0.04	0.03	3.21	0.42	26.75	7.22	548.15	453.44				
1&2&5	0.05	0.04	3.21	0.42	26.85	7.43	524.03	405.97				
1&2&6	0.05	0.05	3.20	0.42	27.08	7.60	519.34	370.09				
1&2&7	0.05	0.04	3.19	0.44	26.98	7.15	527.16	370.89				
1&2&8	0.05	0.03	3.19	0.44	27.38	7.84	503.68	368.19				
1&2&9	0.05	0.04	3.19	0.43	26.94	7.48	489.67	344.08				
1&2&10	0.05	0.04	3.21	0.44	26.25	7.16	505.48	372.80				
1&2&11	0.06	0.04	3.23	0.43	26.15	7.40	436.09	305.76				
	Sacca	ade	Saccade Speed		Number of		Fixation					
	Distance	(pixel)	(pixel/	/ms)	Fixat	ions	Duration (ms)					
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD				
1	259.06	55.82	14.78	3.30	235.38	73.63	314.68	76.83				
1&2	175.09	58.28	9.42	2.85	259.83	92.85	361.45	135.26				
1&2&3	171.12	61.56	9.21	2.75	254.69	89.21	355.69	118.77				
1&2&4	172.80	61.67	9.42	3.20	256.05	88.74	341.67	111.87				
1&2&5	180.00	60.03	9.74	3.17	252.71	91.26	337.27	107.03				
1&2&6	183.52	61.13	9.95	3.10	252.83	96.58	342.50	112.67				
1&2&7	180.45	62.93	9.88	3.47	255.22	88.82	337.15	108.70				
1&2&8	180.41	66.91	9.61	3.24	247.85	96.67	352.74	117.85				
1&2&9	179.23	68.45	9.69	3.36	243.73	89.30	347.59	105.46				
1&2&10	179.84	67.41	10.03	3.67	234.64	96.01	347.45	114.60				
1&2&11	217.79	84.64	11.60	4.23	200.70	92.89	313.25	103.75				

 Table 13. Summary of eye movements under countermeasures.

Note: SD: Standard deviation

First, the change of pupil diameter was measured by the average value of variances of left pupil diameters and right pupil diameters in equation 1:

Changes of pupil diameter =
$$\frac{var(left pupil diameter) + var(right pupil diameter)}{2}$$
 (1)

Second, the average pupil diameter was measured by the average value of the left pupil diameter and the right one. Both indicators measure drivers' cognitive workload. The higher the values of the changes of pupil diameter and average pupil diameter, the higher the cognitive workload. The mean values indicated that only centerline pavement marking had the largest changes of pupil diameter and average pupil diameter, which means the highest cognitive workload compared to the other combined countermeasures. Thus, adding the other 10 countermeasures reduced the cognitive workload significantly. The centerline and edge line markings (1&2), adding shoulder rumble strips (1&2&3) and adding flexible delineator posts (1&2&4) had the lowest level of cognitive workload. A countermeasure with cognitive workload that is too low indicates that the countermeasure may receive less attention from drivers, and vice versa. However, a heavy cognitive workload might decrease driving performance because drivers may feel stress and fatigue easily due to the increased needs for cognitive resources (de Greef et al. 2009, Palinko and Kun 2012). An adequate level of cognitive workload is desirable and can improve driving performance (Brookhuis and de Waard 2010).

Then, the third indicator was saccade duration, which ranged from 26.15 ms to 28.30 ms. The higher saccade duration indicated a more dispersed attention pattern of drivers, meaning drivers' attentions were less focused, which may result in worse driving performance (Desmet and Diependaele 2019). No statistically significant difference was identified for the attention pattern between the countermeasures discussed.

The fourth indicator was the number of saccades, which ranged from 436.09 to 548.15 on average for the countermeasures. The fifth indicator, saccade distance, was the distance in pixels between fixations (de Greef et al. 2009), which can also be measured in degrees (Reyes and Lee

58

2008). Because the driving simulator recorded the fixation point X and Y in pixels, the saccade distance in pixels can be calculated as in equation 2:

Saccade distance =
$$\sqrt{\Delta X^2 + \Delta Y^2}$$
 (2)

Where, ΔX and ΔY indicate the horizontal and vertical changes of fixation points at the beginning and end of the saccade.

The sixth indicator was saccade speed, which was defined as the saccade distance divided by the saccade duration (de Greef et al. 2009, Reyes and Lee 2008) as in equation 3:

$$Saccade \ distance = Saccade \ distance \ / \ Saccade \ duration$$
(3)

All three indicators were used to measure attention shifts of drivers. The higher the number of saccades, saccade distance, and saccade speed, the more frequently drivers obtained visual information from new locations (Takeda et al. 2016). According to the mean values, adding the other countermeasures based on centerline pavement marking reduced the attention shifts significantly because the saccade distance and speed decreased. Among countermeasures 3–11, adding shoulder rumble strips (1&2&3) had the fewest attention shifts, while adding increased curve grade on positive curve (1&2&11) had the most attention shifts. Fewer attention shifts indicated less information obtained for the driving task, which may result in the underload and reduce the alertness of drivers (Takeda et al. 2016). On the contrary, more attention shifts indicated the higher difficulties of driving tasks and overload of drivers (Jin et al. 2014), which may decrease the driving performance. A proper level of attention shifts can improve driving performance.

The greater number of fixations indicated the higher level of interests within the area (Vignali et al. 2019). Edge line pavement marking can increase the level of interest significantly. Then, among countermeasures 3–11, adding increased curve grade on positive grade based on countermeasures 1 and 2 (1&2&11) had the lowest mean level of interests, while adding flexible delineator posts (1&2&4) had the highest mean level of interests. The high level of interest indicated the increase of drivers' visual attention during driving (Vignali et al. 2019), which may reduce crashes.

The final indicator was fixation duration. The larger the fixation duration, the higher the level of difficulty of information extraction and understanding (Costa et al. 2018). Edge line and centerline pavement marking (1&2) had the highest difficulty level of information extraction and understanding, while increased curve grade on positive grade based on countermeasures 1 and 2 (1&2&11) had the lowest difficulty level. The increasing level of difficulty of information extraction extraction and understanding may decrease the driving performance (Costa et al. 2018).

Overall, the countermeasures had impacts on the drivers' cognitive workload, attention shifts, level of interest, and difficulty of information extraction and understanding. The relationships between the cognition and attention of drivers and their driving performance will be discussed in the regressions between countermeasures, cognitive attention, and crash using machine learning section.

Eye Movements Between Combinations of Weather Conditions and Traffic Volume

For the four simulation combinations of clear and foggy weather conditions and heavy and light traffic flows, ANOVA tests were applied to examine the differences. Table 14 shows that only fixation duration did not have significant differences between the four combinations (p = 0.10),

while the other seven indicators were significantly impacted by the weather conditions and traffic flows (p < 0.05).

Variables	ANOVA Test									
variables	Source	Df	Sum Sq	Mean Sq	F value	Pr (> F)				
Changes of Pupil	Model	3	0.03	0.01	3.49	0.02				
Diameter	Error	2589	6.94	0.00						
Average Pupil	Model	3	2.02	2.02 0.67		0.01				
Diameter	Error	2589	483.99	0.19						
Seconda Duration	Model	3	659.31	219.77	4.01	0.01				
Saccade Duration	Error	2607	142,964.92	54.84						
Number of	Model	3	6,668,405.10	2,222,801.70	15.89	< 0.01				
Saccades	Error	2607	364,771,898.30	139,920.20						
Sacada Distance	Model	3	66,227.23	22,075.74	4.59	< 0.01				
Saccade Distance	Error	2604	12,513,131.29	4,805.35						
Seconda Speed	Model	3	246.42	82.14	6.17	< 0.01				
Saccade Speed	DurationError 2607 Der of adesModel3Error2607DistanceModel3Error2604e SpeedModel3Error2604Der ofModel3Error2604Der ofModel3Error2604	34,670.27	13.31							
Number of	Model	3	1,256,673.94	418,891.31	52.45	< 0.01				
Fixations	Error	2607	20,821,433.21	7,986.74						
Fixation Duration	Model	3	78,258.73	26,086.24	2.09	0.10				
Fixation Duration	Error	2607	32,539,804.59	12,481.70						

Table 14. Results of ANOVA tests for eye movements and combinations.

Table 15 summarizes the eye movements for each combination. First, the changes of pupil diameter were higher for combinations 3 and 4, which means the cognitive workload was higher for heavy traffic flow with both clear and foggy weather. Traffic flow was the major reason impacting this indicator. However, the mean values of average pupil diameter showed that drivers experienced a higher workload (i.e., larger average pupil diameter) for clear weather with both light traffic flow and heavy traffic flow. Thus, weather conditions also contributed to the differences in cognitive workload. Next, drivers showed the most frequent attention shifts under heavy traffic flow with foggy weather. Moreover, combinations 3 and 4 had a larger number of fixations, which means heavy traffic flow with both clear and foggy weather had a higher level

of interest. Finally, fixation duration did not have significant differences, which indicates that the difficulty of information extraction and understanding were similar for all the weather conditions and traffic flows.

	Combinations of Weather and Traffic										
Variables (unit)	1		2		3		4				
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD			
Changes of Pupil Diameter (mm ²)	0.05	0.05	0.05	0.06	0.06	0.05	0.06	0.05			
Average Pupil Diameter (mm)	3.27	0.43	3.21	0.44	3.23	0.42	3.20	0.43			
Saccade Duration (ms)	27.87	7.67	26.76	7.32	26.80	7.29	26.58	7.36			
Number of Saccades	474.90	417.43	446.61	330.39	532.65	361.69	576.44	383.31			
Saccade Distance (pixel)	190.61	68.35	181.40	65.21	189.00	67.60	195.35	75.66			
Saccade Speed (pixel/ms)	10.07	3.43	10.00	3.52	10.37	3.59	10.78	4.02			
Number of Fixations	225.89	85.58	220.31	80.48	261.47	97.06	270.97	93.26			
Fixation Duration (ms)	345.49	122.19	347.03	107.05	338.14	113.09	333.60	104.16			

Table 15. Summary of eye movements under combinations.

Note: SD: Standard deviation

Driving Performance

Driving Performance with Different Countermeasures

Similar ANOVA tests were performed for driving performance indicators with different countermeasures. Table 16 shows the results of the ANOVA tests for the six indicators of driving performance. For the impact of edge line pavement marking, three driving performance indicators—crash, acceleration and deceleration, and lateral lane position—showed significant differences (p < 0.01), while vehicle speed, lateral acceleration, and steering wheel angle were not impacted. For the differences among countermeasures 3–11, three driving performance indicators—crash (p = 0.58), acceleration and deceleration (p = 1.00), and lateral lane position
(p = 0.49)—did not show significant differences, while vehicle speed, lateral acceleration, and steering wheel angle were significantly impacted. Table 17 shows the mean values and standard deviations of each variable under countermeasures.

			ANOV	A Test		
Variables			Impact of Cou	ntermeasure 2		
	Source	Df	Sum Sq	Mean Sq	F value	Pr(>F)
Creat	Model	1	1.20	1.20	14.66	< 0.01
Crash	Error	478	39.13	0.08		
Vahiala Smaad	Model	1	128.73	128.73	2.46	0.12
venicie speed	Error	478	25,027.06	52.36		
Acceleration and	Model	1	25.25	25.25	29.28	< 0.01
Deceleration	Error	478	412.21	0.86		
Lateral	Model	1	4.17	4.17	2.38	0.12
Acceleration	Error	478	838.92	1.76		
Steering Wheel	Model	1	0.74	0.74	0.09	0.77
Angle	Error	478	4,011.89	8.39		
Lateral Lane	Model	1	20.94	20.94	54.47	< 0.01
Position	Error	478	183.74	0.38		
			Impact of Count	ermeasures 3–	11	
	Source	Df	Sum Sq	Mean Sq	F value	Pr(>F)
Crach	Model	9	0.31	0.03	0.84	0.58
Crash	Error	2390	98.70	0.04		
Vahiala Smaad	Model	9	1,108.39	123.15	1.90	< 0.05
venicie Speed	Error	2390	155,295.83	64.98		
Acceleration and	Model	9	0.77	0.09	0.09	1.00
Deceleration	Error	2390	2,214.55	0.93		
Lateral	Model	9	1,487.70	165.30	99.00	< 0.01
Acceleration	Error	2390	3,990.64	1.67		
Steering Wheel	Model	9	61,823.53	6,869.28	1,386.61	< 0.01
Angle	Error	2390	11,840.08	4.95		
Lateral Lane	Model	9	3.99	0.44	0.93	0.49
Position	Error	2390	1,135.41	0.48		

Table 16. Results of ANOVA tests for driving performance and countermeasures.

	Variables (unit)										
Counter	Crash (number)	Vehicle	e Speed	Acceleration a	nd Deceleration					
measures		lumber)	(M.	<u>/hr)</u>	(ft	t/s^2)					
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD					
1	0.14	0.36	37.93	5.35	1.58	0.88					
1&2	0.04	0.19	36.89	8.72	1.12	0.98					
1&2&3	0.05	0.31	36.39	8.18	1.12	0.99					
1&2&4	0.02	0.16	35.85	7.71	1.13	0.99					
1&2&5	0.03	0.16	34.34	7.08	1.14	0.99					
1&2&6	0.03	0.17	35.37	7.42	1.11	0.94					
1&2&7	0.01	0.11	35.53	7.56	1.13	0.94					
1&2&8	0.03	0.19	35.93	8.70	1.09	0.85					
1&2&9	0.04	0.19	36.34	9.13	1.10	0.90					
1&2&10	0.04	0.33	35.26	7.65	1.15	1.07					
1&2&11	0.01	0.11	36.12	8.20	1.14	0.96					
	Lateral A	cceleration	Steering	g Wheel	Lateral La	ne Position					
	(ft.	(s^2)	Angle (°)		(ft)						
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD					
1	3.69	1.01	21.82	3.12	5.52	0.61					
1&2	3.50	1.58	21.90	2.66	5.10	0.63					
1&2&3	3.43	1.53	21.78	2.31	5.09	0.66					
1&2&4	3.31	1.39	21.73	2.19	5.02	0.71					
1&2&5	3.03	1.30	21.51	3.10	5.06	0.66					
1&2&6	3.24	1.31	21.51	1.96	5.05	0.72					
1&2&7	3.20	1.25	21.34	1.90	5.09	0.68					
1&2&8	1.35	0.87	9.08	2.06	5.05	0.86					
1&2&9	1.34	0.79	8.90	1.25	5.11	0.75					
1&2&10	3.24	1.27	21.80	2.13	5.12	0.57					
1&2&11	3.37	1.39	21.79	2.22	4.98	0.62					

Table 17. Summary of driving performance under countermeasures.

First, regarding crash, there were 37 vehicle collisions and 65 off-road collisions in total. Of the 60 participants, 24 did not have any crashes. The mean value of crash with only countermeasure 1 (centerline pavement marking) is the highest at 0.14. Similarly, those of the other performance indicators are mostly the highest for countermeasure 1. However, these results do not mean that the countermeasure of centerline pavement marking is the least effective since

this countermeasure is compared with the combination of other countermeasures. This result of the single countermeasure was used as a base countermeasure when others were examined.

Adding the countermeasure of the edge line pavement marking to the road section with the centerline pavement marking (1&2) reduced the crashes significantly, while the effectiveness of further adding other countermeasures (1&2&3–1&2&11) did not show significant differences. Second, the value of the vehicle speedometer showed the exact speed. When only the centerline pavement marking countermeasure was applied on the road, the average speed was the highest. Then, adding countermeasures on the road reduced the average speed. Specifically, adding the posted speed sign countermeasure resulted in the lowest average speed. Third, the absolute value of the longitudinal acceleration of the vehicle represented the acceleration and deceleration. It showed that when centerline pavement marking (countermeasure 1) only was applied on the road, the mean acceleration and deceleration value was the highest, indicating that drivers had more speed changes. Adding edge line pavement marking on the road (1&2) reduced the acceleration and deceleration significantly, while adding other countermeasures (1&2&3–1&2&11) did not show significant changes in this indicator.

The fourth indicator was the absolute value of the lateral acceleration of the vehicle. Adding countermeasures in general reduced the lateral acceleration. When countermeasures 8 and 9, i.e., increased shoulder width and changed horizontal curve curvature, were applied on the existing centerline and edge line (1&2&8, 1&2&9), lateral accelerations were the smallest among all of the countermeasures 3–11.

The fifth indicator of the mean angle of the steering wheel ranged from 8.90° to 21.90°. Drivers had fewer moving angles of the steering wheel under countermeasures of increased shoulder

65

width and changed horizontal curve curvature. Finally, the last indicator was the lateral lane position of the driven vehicle to the roadway dividing line, which is positive to the right. The vehicle had the largest distance from the roadway dividing line under only centerline pavement marking, which means the vehicle was closer to the centerline of the road. Adding edge line pavement marking (1&2) made the vehicles move further to the centerline of the road, which may improve safety.

Driving Performance with Different Combinations of Weather and Traffic Conditions

Considering the four combinations of different weather conditions and traffic flows, table 18 shows the results of the ANOVA tests for the six driving performance indicators between those four combinations. Vehicle speed, acceleration and deceleration, lateral acceleration, and lateral lane position had significant differences between the four combinations (p < 0.01), while the combinations did not have significant impacts on crashes and steering wheel angle. Also, table 19 shows the summary of driving performance under each combination of weather condition and traffic flow.

Variables			ANG	OVA Test		
variables	Source	Df	Sum Sq	Mean Sq	F value	Pr (>F)
Crash	Model	3	0.20	0.07	1.33	0.26
Clash	Error	2636	131.86	0.05		
Valiate Careed	Model	3	90,863.55	30,287.85	1,088.18	< 0.01
venicie speed	Error	2636	73,369.05	27.83		
Acceleration and	Model	3	15.99	5.33	5.78	< 0.01
Deceleration	Error	2636	2,429.17	0.92		
Lataral Appalametian	Model	3	1,804.83	601.61	391.21	< 0.01
Lateral Acceleration	Error	2636	4,053.69	1.54		
Steering Wheel Angle	Model	3	168.93	56.31	1.92	0.12
Steering wheel Angle	Error	2636	77,395.65	29.36		
	Model	3	35.81	11.94	25.46	< 0.01
Lateral Lane Position	Error	2636	1,235.86	0.47		

Table 18. Results of ANOVA tests for driving performance and combinations.

		С	ombina	tions of W	eather and	d Traffic	2		
Variables (unit)		1		2		3		4	
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	
Crash (number)	0.03	0.18	0.05	0.27	0.04	0.19	0.04	0.24	
Vehicle Speed (m/hr)	41.51	4.42	42.18	5.23	30.68	5.85	29.61	5.49	
Acceleration and Deceleration (ft/s ²)	1.04	0.88	1.25	1.09	1.20	0.89	1.16	0.96	
Lateral Acceleration (ft/s ²)	3.73	1.33	3.86	1.36	2.24	1.15	2.05	1.11	
Steering Wheel Angle (°)	19.45	5.59	19.75	5.84	19.24	5.00	19.08	5.20	
Lateral Lane Position (ft)	5.25	0.54	5.20	0.63	4.97	0.75	5.02	0.79	

Table 19. Summary of driving performance under combinations.

First, the mean values of the crash were similar among the four combinations. Specifically, combination 2 (foggy and light traffic flow) had the most crashes (34 crashes), while combination 1 (clear and light traffic flow) had the smallest number of crashes (18 crashes). However, the difference was not statistically significant. Second, the average speed of both foggy weather and light traffic flow, and clear weather and light traffic flow was larger than the speed of foggy weather and clear weather with traffic flow. Thus, light traffic flow led to a higher speed. Third, the acceleration and deceleration were highest for foggy weather and light traffic flow, while it was lowest under clear weather and light traffic flow. Therefore, the weather condition was the major factor impacting acceleration and deceleration. Drivers changed their speed more often in foggy weather, which means they were more cautious to control their speed. Fourth, lateral acceleration was larger for foggy weather and light traffic flow and clear weather and light traffic flow, while the mean values were smaller for both foggy weather and clear weather and light traffic flow and clear weather and light traffic flow, while the mean values were smaller for both foggy weather and clear weather weather with heavy traffic flows. Thus, traffic flow was the major source impacting lateral

acceleration. Vehicles had higher lateral acceleration in the curve when there was light traffic flow. Fifth, the mean angle of the steering wheel ranged from 19.08° to 19.75° for the four combinations without a statistically significant difference. Finally, the vehicles under clear weather and traffic flow had the smallest distance from the roadway dividing line, while clear weather and light traffic flow had the largest lateral lane position. Traffic flow was a more critical factor influencing this indicator. Vehicles were closer to the centerline of the road when there was light traffic flow. Overall, drivers showed bolder driving performance when there was light traffic flow.

Short-term Memory

The three short-term memory indicators were compared between the combinations of weather and traffic. Table 20 shows that only ability to control attention showed significant differences between different weather and traffic flow, while both recall ability and speed of item identification and processing were not impacted by the combinations. According to table 21, drivers identified more cars that appeared during the simulation. The possible reason is that drivers were very attentive to all the information that appeared on the screen when there was limited visibility.

Variables	ANOVA Test								
variables	Source	Df	Sum Sq	Mean Sq	F value	Pr (> F)			
Decell Ability	Model	3	331.38	110.46	0.49	0.69			
Recall Ability	Error	236	53,276.79	225.75					
Ability to Control Attention	Model	3	1.89	0.63	4.23	0.01			
Ability to Collubria Attention	Error	236	35.06	0.15					
Speed of Item Identification	Model	3	0.41	0.14	0.32	0.81			
and Processing	Error	236	100.25	0.42					

Table 20. Results of ANOVA tests for short-term memory and combinations.

	Combinations of Weather and Traffic									
Variables (unit)	1		2		3		4			
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD		
Recall Ability (%)	88.15	10.99	89.08	12.01	86.11	16.57	86.67	19.06		
Ability to Control Attention (correct rate)	0.57	0.33	0.74	0.33	0.58	0.36	0.50	0.50		
Speed of Item Identification and Processing (5-point scale)	4.05	0.62	4.10	0.63	4.00	0.66	4.00	0.69		

 Table 21. Summary of short-term memory under combinations.

ANOVA TEST FOR SEQUENCE AND ORDERS

To reduce the impacts of sequences of conducting each combination of weather and traffic during the experiment, the 60 participants were divided into four different sequences of the combinations of weather and traffic flow, as shown in table 22. The four combinations covered two weather conditions (clear and foggy weather) and two traffic flows (light and heavy traffic), which were discussed in detail in driving simulation setup and modeling plan. Then, as introduced in the data collection section (population and sample), each row of table 22 indicates the different sequences of combinations that appeared in the driving simulation task. For example, for participants of sequence 1, their experiment procedure started with combination 1, followed by combinations 3 and 4, and then ended with combination 2. Finally, the order (i.e., each column of table 22) indicates the different starting time points for each combination. For example, order 1 indicated the combination that started at the beginning, which was combination 1 for sequence 1, combination 3 for sequence 2, combination 2 for sequence 3, and combination 4 for sequence 4. The driving performance, eye movements, and short-term memory were compared between sequences of combinations of weather and traffic and orders of each combination to explore the differences.

Saguanaag	Orders								
Sequences	1	2	3	4					
Sequence 1	Combination 1	Combination 3	Combination 4	Combination 2					
Sequence 2	Combination 3	Combination 2	Combination 1	Combination 4					
Sequence 3	Combination 2	Combination 4	Combination 3	Combination 1					
Sequence 4	Combination 4	Combination 1	Combination 2	Combination 3					

 Table 22. Four sequences with different order of combinations.

Comparison Between Sequences of Combinations of Weather Condition and Traffic Flow

Eye Movements

For eye movements indicators, ANOVA tests (see table 23) showed that only numbers of fixation did not have significant differences between sequences (p = 0.11), while the other seven indicators were impacted significantly by the sequences (p < 0.01). Table 24 presents the summary of the eight indicators.

Variables			ANOV	A Test		
variables	Source	Df	Sum Sq	Mean Sq	F value	Pr (> F)
Changes of Pupil	Model	3	0.11	0.04	13.46	< 0.01
Diameter	Error	2589	6.86	0.00		
Average Pupil	Model	3	24.85	8.28	46.51	< 0.01
Diameter	Error	2589	461.16	0.18		
Saccade	Model	3	7,901.74	2,633.91	50.59	< 0.01
Duration	Error	2607	135,722.49	52.06		
Number of	Model	3	18,495,317.80	6,165,105.90	45.54	< 0.01
Saccades	Error	2607	352,944,985.60	135,383.60		
Saccade	Model	3	239,639.60	79,879.87	16.86	< 0.01
Distance	Error	2604	12,339,718.91	4,738.76		
Sacada Speed	Model	3	458.59	152.86	11.55	< 0.01
Saccade Speed	Error	2604	34,458.09	13.23		
Number of	Model	3	144,038.71	48,012.90	5.71	0.11
Fixations	Error	2607	21,934,068.44	8413.53		
Fixation	Model	3	705,781.86	235,260.62	19.22	< 0.01
Duration	Error	2607	31,912,281.46	12,241.00		

Table 23. Results of ANOVA tests for eye movements and sequences.

	Sequences of Combinations of Weather and Traffic										
Variables	-	1	2		3		4				
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD			
Changes of Pupil Diameter	0.05	0.05	0.05	0.04	0.06	0.07	0.06	0.04			
Average Pupil Diameter	3.08	0.37	3.20	0.41	3.32	0.41	3.32	0.49			
Saccade Duration	28.80	6.70	24.13	7.20	27.56	7.03	27.51	7.88			
Number of Saccades	394.75	174.16	630.49	473.18	490.10	367.73	515.66	389.26			
Saccade Distance	189.11	68.42	175.20	66.23	202.24	72.82	189.86	67.73			
Saccade Speed	9.72	3.69	10.29	3.45	10.91	3.74	10.31	3.66			
Number of Fixations	239.98	84.33	257.63	92.01	241.15	97.57	240.50	92.53			
Fixation Duration	366.23	98.42	366.23	98.42	338.30	100.53	339.46	111.79			

Table 24. Summary of eye movements under sequences.

Driving Performance

Table 25 indicates that the crash, vehicle speed, acceleration and deceleration, and lateral acceleration indicators had significant differences (p < 0.05), while the steering wheel angle and lateral lane position were not influenced by the different sequences (p > 0.05).

Variables			ANOV	/A Test		
variables	Source	Df	Sum Sq	Mean Sq	F value	Pr. (> F)
Crach	Model	3	0.60	0.20	4.00	0.01
Clasii	Error	2636	131.46	0.05		
Vahiala Speed	Model	3	824.77	274.92	4.43	< 0.01
venicie speed	Error	2636	163407.83	61.99		
Acceleration and	Model	3	13.59	4.53	4.91	< 0.01
Deceleration	Error	2636	2431.56	0.92		
Lateral Assolution	Model	3	37.87	12.62	5.72	< 0.01
Lateral Acceleration	Error	2636	5820.64	2.21		
Steering Wheel Angle	Model	3	95.58	31.86	1.08	0.35
Steering wheel Angle	Error	2636	77469.00	29.39		
Lateral Lana Desition	Model	3	3.66	1.22	2.54	0.06
Lateral Lane Position	Error	2636	1268.01	0.48		

Table 25. Results of ANOVA tests for driving performance and sequences.

Table 26 shows the mean values and standard deviations of each indicator for every sequence. The results indicate that the setting of different sequences was useful to increase the diversity within the limited sample.

The average speed of driving in the simulator was about 35.4-36.7 mile/hr. These speeds look like lower than real driving speeds in a road with a speed limit 35 m/hr. to 45 m/hr. The reasons causing the low speed of driving a simulator are probably the following: 1) the simulator was not able to create a driving environment close to the real driving, 2) participants tried to drive prudently since they knew they were part of data collection.

	Sequences of Combinations of Weather and Traffic										
Variables	1		2	2	3	3	4				
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD			
Crash	0.04	0.23	0.02	0.13	0.04	0.19	0.06	0.31			
Vehicle Speed	36.43	7.88	35.41	7.22	35.48	7.18	36.66	9.07			
Acceleration and Deceleration	1.18	0.88	1.05	0.74	1.19	0.75	1.24	1.34			
Lateral Acceleration	3.05	1.48	2.85	1.37	2.86	1.35	3.12	1.72			
Steering Wheel Angle	19.47	5.36	19.07	5.18	19.41	5.30	19.58	5.81			
Lateral Lane Position	5.14	0.79	5.05	0.61	5.14	0.63	5.11	0.74			

Table 26. Summary of driving performance under sequences.

Short-term Memory

Finally, table 27 shows that only the speed of item identification and processing variable was significantly different between sequences (p < 0.01). Both recall ability and ability to control attention were not significantly impacted by the different sequences. Table 28 summarizes the data under each sequence of combinations. Thus, the set of four sequences did not contribute to major differences for short-term memory.

Variables		ANOVA Test									
variables	Source	Df	Sum Sq	Mean Sq	F value	Pr (> F)					
Recall Ability	Model	3	1,145.79	381.93	1.72	0.16					
	Error	236	52,462.38	222.30							
Ability to Control	Model	3	0.29	0.10	0.61	0.61					
Attention	Error	236	36.66	0.16							
Speed of Item	Model	3	13.91	4.64	12.62	< 0.01					
Identification and Processing	Error	236	86.75	0.37							

Table 27. Results of ANOVA tests for short-term memory and sequences.

		Sequences of Combinations of Weather and Traffic								
Variables	1		2		3		4			
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD		
Recall Ability	87.22	18.51	86.30	13.31	91.11	13.69	85.37	13.49		
Ability to Control Attention	0.65	0.38	0.57	0.42	0.61	0.35	0.57	0.43		
Speed of Item Identification and Processing	4.18	0.60	4.25	0.57	3.63	0.58	4.08	0.67		

Table 28. Summary of short-term memory under sequences.

Comparison Between Orders of Each Combination of Weather Condition and Traffic Flow

As shown in Table 22, the order (i.e., each column of table 22) indicates the different starting time points for each combination. The followings are the results about eye movements, driving performance, and short-term memory respectively.

Eye Movements

For the eye movements indicator, table 29 indicates that only saccade speed had a significant difference between orders (p = 0.02). The other seven indicators were not impacted by the order (p > 0.05). Then, table 30 shows the summary of each indicator for different sequences. Overall, the results also indicated that the order did not impact the eye movements of drivers.

Variables			ANOV	A Test		
variables	Source	Df	Sum Sq	Mean Sq	F value	Pr (> F)
Changes of Pupil	Model	3	0.01	0.00	0.75	0.52
Diameter	Error	2589	6.96	0.00		
Average Pupil	Model	3	0.23	0.08	0.42	0.74
Diameter	Error	2589	485.78	0.19		
Saccade Duration	Model	3	113.32	37.77	0.69	0.56
	Error	2607	143,510.91	55.05		
Normhan of Course los	Model	3	459,692.30	153,230.80	1.08	0.36
Number of Saccades	Error	2607	370,980,611.00	142,301.70		
Seconda Distance	Model	3	23,849.75	7,949.92	1.65	0.18
Saccade Distance	Error	2604	12,555,508.76	4,821.62		
Seconda Smood	Model	3	125.69	41.90	3.14	0.02
Saccade Speed	Error	2604	34,790.99	13.36		
Number of Einstians	Model	3	10,798.88	3,599.63	0.43	0.73
Number of Fixations	Error	2607	22,067,308.27	8,464.64		
Eivation Dynation	Model	3	7,948.41	2,649.47	0.21	0.89
Fixation Duration	Error	2607	32,610,114.91	12,508.67		

Table 29. Results of ANOVA tests for eye movements and orders.

 Table 30. Summary of eye movements under orders.

	Orders of Each Combination of Weather and Traffic										
Variables		1		2		3		4			
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD			
Changes of Pupil Diameter	0.05	0.05	0.05	0.05	0.05	0.05	0.06	0.05			
Average Pupil Diameter	3.24	0.43	3.23	0.44	3.22	0.42	3.22	0.43			
Saccade Duration	27.17	7.16	27.23	7.92	26.81	7.44	26.76	7.13			
Number of Saccades	505.69	366.97	495.86	360.08	530.03	420.90	500.04	356.85			
Saccade Distance	192.12	68.13	186.03	69.23	192.04	72.36	186.03	67.91			
Saccade Speed	10.45	3.47	9.99	3.43	10.56	4.05	10.22	3.64			
Number of Fixations	245.34	83.71	244.11	93.49	247.76	92.11	242.16	98.13			
Fixation Duration	338.57	113.66	342.58	108.44	342.76	111.56	340.18	113.60			

Driving Performance

After learning the impacts of different sequences, ANOVA tests were performed between different orders of each combination of weather and traffic. For the driving performance, table 31 shows that only the lateral lane position was significantly impacted by the order, while the other five indicators did not have a significant difference.

Variables			ANO	VA Test		
variables	Source	Df	Sum Sq	Mean Sq	F value	Pr (> F)
Crach	Model	3	0.15	0.05	0.98	0.40
Crash	Error	2636	131.91	0.05		
Vahiala Speed	Model	3	311.90	103.97	1.67	0.17
venicie speed	Error	2636	163,920.71	62.19		
Acceleration and	Model	3	4.97	1.66	1.79	0.15
Deceleration	Error	2636	2,440.19	0.93		
Lateral Appalaration	Model	3	10.02	3.34	1.51	0.21
Lateral Acceleration	Error	2636	5,848.49	2.22		
Steering Wheel Angle	Model	3	18.55	6.18	0.21	0.89
Steering wheel Angle	Error	2636	77,546.02	29.42		
Lateral Lana Desition	Model	3	8.32	2.77	5.79	< 0.01
Lateral Lane Position	Error	2636	1,263.36	0.48		

Table 31. Results of ANOVA tests for driving performance and orders.

Table 32 shows the summary of each order. The order did not cause major differences in driving performance. Thus, the experiment time duration did not cause a decrease in driving performance.

		Order of Combinations of Weather and Traffic								
Variables	1		2	2		3		4		
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD		
Crash	0.05	0.27	0.03	0.18	0.04	0.23	0.03	0.21		
Vehicle Speed	35.94	7.74	35.61	7.65	36.55	7.98	35.88	8.16		
Acceleration and Deceleration	1.15	1.04	1.16	0.99	1.12	0.93	1.24	0.89		
Lateral Acceleration	2.97	1.48	2.90	1.45	3.07	1.53	2.95	1.50		
Steering Wheel Angle	19.50	5.59	19.27	5.32	19.41	5.51	19.34	5.27		
Lateral Lane Position	5.02	0.74	5.11	0.68	5.12	0.70	5.18	0.64		

Table 32. Summary of driving performance under orders.

Short-term Memory

Finally, table 33 shows that all three indicators of short-term memory did not have significant differences between orders (p > 0.05). Table 34 summarizes the short-term memory data by orders. Thus, the order also did not influence the short-term memory of drivers.

Table 33. Results of ANOVA tests	for short-term memory	and orders.
----------------------------------	-----------------------	-------------

Variables	ANOVA Test									
v artables	Source	Source Df		Mean Sq	F value	Pr (> F)				
Desall Ability	Model	3	928.04	309.35	1.39	0.25				
Recall Addity	Error	236	52,680.12	223.22						
Ability to Control	Model	3	0.18	0.06	0.38	0.77				
Attention	Error	236	36.77	0.16						
Speed of Item	Model	3	0.01	0.00	0.01	1.00				
Identification and Processing	Error	236	100.65	0.43						

	Orders of Combinations of Weather and Traffic									
Variables	Order 1		Order 2		Order 3		Order 4			
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD		
Recall Ability	90.37	12.69	85.19	17.32	86.30	15.36	88.15	14.00		
Ability to Control Attention	0.59	0.41	0.56	0.39	0.61	0.39	0.63	0.39		
Speed of Item Identification and Processing	4.03	0.66	4.03	0.66	4.03	0.61	4.05	0.67		

Table 34. Summary of short-term memory under orders.

Summary of ANOVA Results

Table 35 lists the summaries of all the ANOVA test results performed for this project, which is discussed further as follows:

First, the results indicate that different countermeasures caused significant differences in the driving performances, including the number of crashes, speed, acceleration and deceleration, lateral acceleration, steering wheel angle, and lateral lane position, which are in accordance with the existing literature (Bauer and Harwood 2013, Charlton 2007, Gross et al. 2009, Lenné et al. 2011, Räsänen 2005, Saleem and Persaud 2017, Zhao et al. 2020, Zwahlen 1987). Also, the countermeasures significantly impacted drivers' cognition by influencing pupillometry, saccade, and fixation. Drivers had different cognitive workloads, frequency of attention shifts, level of interest, and difficulty of information extraction and understanding among countermeasures. The results can be supported by previous work (Hill et al. 2003, de Greef et al. 2009, Kapitaniak et al. 2015, Marshall 2002, Najar and Sanjram 2018, Vignali et al. 2019). Drivers' cognitive attention was influenced by the signs, pavement markings, and roadway improvements.

Second, different weather conditions and traffic flow did not impact crash significantly, although crash is the major indicator of traffic safety (Guo et al. 2013, Lee et al. 2011). But weather

conditions and traffic flow did impact the other drivers' performance indicators in the study as reported, which was also supported by previous studies (Birrell and Young 2011, Fisher et al. 2011, Reymond et al. 2001, Vignali et al. 2019, Whitmire et al. 2011). Next, the drivers' cognitive properties were significantly different among the different combinations of weather and traffic flows. Finally, for short-term memory, the weather and traffic flow impacted drivers' ability to control attention, i.e., identifying cars that appeared in the experiment. However, the recall ability and speed of item identification and processing were not significantly influenced.

Third, for the experiment design, on one hand, the different sequences of four combinations of weather and traffic in the experiment showed significantly different results in driving performance, eye movements, and short-term memory. Therefore, the experiment design of dividing 60 participants into four sequences was useful to improve the bias within a limited sample size. On the other hand, the order of each combination of weather and traffic did not impact the majority of indicators (15 out of 17). The different starting time of each combination of weather and traffic was not an influencing factor in the experiment, supporting the reliability of the experiment of this study.

Meaning	Indicators	Countermeasures	Combinations	Sequences	Orders	
	Changes of Pupil		al			
Cognitive	Diameter	N	N	N	×	
Workload	Average Pupil	2	2	\sim	\sim	
	Diameter	N	v	v	^	
Attention	Saccade	×	N		~	
Pattern	Durations	^	v	v	^	
	Number of	×	V		×	
Attention	Saccades	~	V	•	~	
Shifts	Saccade Distance	N	N		×	
	Saccade Speed					
Level of	Number of	N	N	×	×	
Interest	Fixations	v	v	~	^	
Difficulty of						
Information	Fixation Duration	\checkmark	×	\checkmark	×	
Extraction and		,		·		
Understanding	~ 1	1		1		
	Crash	N	×	N	×	
	Speed	N	N	N	×	
	Acceleration and	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	×	
~	Deceleration					
Driving	Lateral	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	×	
Performance	Acceleration					
	Steering Wheel	\checkmark	×	×	×	
	Angle					
	Lateral Lane		\checkmark	×		
	Position					
	Recall Ability	-	×	×	×	
C1	Ability to Control	-	\checkmark	×	×	
Short-term	Attention					
Memory	Speed of Item			. 1		
	Identification and	-	×	N	×	
	Processing					

Table 35. Summary of ANOVA test results.

Note: $\sqrt{\text{indicates significant difference}}$; × means non-significant difference; - indicates the impacts were not examined.

VISULIZATION OF ATTENTION DISTRIBUTION AND INTENSITY

In this section, the heat maps for all the participants are compared by the eye-tracking software to generate a general heat map image. This heat map is the representation of all drivers' gazes based on colors. The more they gaze at a spot, the more the color changes, i.e., from a green to yellow and finally to red; the color ranges from light green all the way to red. Figure 34 shows the heap map generated from all the participants with the help of the eye tracker, which also excluded irrelevant gaze areas that participants did not focus on. Most participants' focus and attention can be seen to be primarily on the roadway; however, other regions of interest can be seen, as well. One area that had a significant amount of participant gaze was the dashboard of the vehicle at the speedometer. Figure 35 shows the heat map for the first 10 participants. These participants paid good attention to not only the road but the speed at which they were moving. Comparing the two heat maps generated by different participants, more attention is shown on the road from the heat map of all the participants.

Figure 36 and figure 37 show the gaze plots of two simulation parts for just one of the first few participants. They are examples of the gaze numbers and sequences. From the gaze plots, this participant had a lot of fixations on the road as well as on the dashboard area for the simulation. Greater amounts of fixation signify a high level of interest in these regions by the participants. Also, by comparing more heat maps, it can be observed that more participants tend to not focus to a greater extent on the speedometer on the dashboard, which would cause the change in intensity that the colors represent. More participants were focused on the road, causing the intensity on the road to increase in that area of interest.

81



Figure 34. Screenshot. Heat map image for all 60 participants.



Figure 35. Screenshot. Heat map image for first 10 participants.



Figure 36. Screenshot. Gaze plot of an early participant for combination 1.



Figure 37. Screenshot. Gaze plot of an early participant for combination 2.

REGRESSIONS BETWEEN COUNTERMEASURES AND CRASH USING MACHINE LEARNING

In order to establish the relationships between the countermeasures and traffic safety, a machine learning technique was used. Machine learning can be described as the study of a sequence of computational instructions that are capable of improving by themselves with the use of data. The machine learning technique used can be referred to as *regression*. Through regression analysis, a relationship can be established between a dependent variable and various independent variables. This machine learning technique falls under one of the subclasses under machine learning that is known as *supervised learning*, where the main task is to establish a form of mapping or, in this case, relationship between inputs and an output. In regression, the inputs are referred to as the independent variables, while the output is the dependent variable. In this study, the dependent variable is the number of traffic crashes, while the independent variables are the 11 countermeasures for all 60 participants. With this analysis, a relationship where the most significant countermeasure and least significant countermeasure that leads to a traffic crash can be decided. Also, a relationship between the countermeasures, cognitive attention, and traffic crashes can be decided. The regression analysis formula can be seen as equations 4 and 5:

$$Y = WA + c \tag{4}$$
$$A = TC \tag{5}$$

(5)

Where,

Y refers to the dependable variable.

W is the significance parameter.

A represents the various independent variables.

c is the approximation error.

T is the identity matrix of the simulation.

Please note that both W and A are vector quantities. Due to the presence of different countermeasures in each of the runs, the A vector, which indicates the countermeasures, is equal to T, which is the identity matrix of the simulation multiplied by C, which is the column vector of the occurring countermeasures for the 11 rounds.

As a result of the present case, where there is more than one independent variable, the best way to approach this analysis is with the use of a matrix. With an independent variable of 11 countermeasures and 60 participants, a 660 by 11 matrix was to be generated for the computation of the A value. Also, from the driving simulator data, all crashes from each countermeasure for each participant were used to generate a 660 by 1 matrix, which would represent Y values. With these terms provided, computation for the term W, which is the significance parameter, was performed by using equation 6:

$$W = (A^T A)^{-1} A^T Y \tag{6}$$

This analysis was completed for all the countermeasures and also the four combinations of weather and traffic to establish relationships between them and traffic crashes, which are shown in table 36 and table 37. The crash significance parameter (W) represents the effectiveness of reduction for overall crashes. There are two types of crashes. W_1 represents the parameters for vehicle collisions; W_2 shows the parameters for off-road collisions. A small value for W indicates that the countermeasure has high effectiveness to reduce crashes, while a large value indicates that the countermeasure has low effectiveness to reduce crashes. The effectiveness of the different countermeasures on overall crashes was obvious simply by comparing the values of

W for the countermeasures. Overall, from the information in table 36, it is possible to set run 2, which consists of the center line and edge line countermeasures, as a control W parameter (0.1 for this study) since these two countermeasures coexist in all the runs that followed. Any W parameter going below 0.1 indicates the additional countermeasure is an effective countermeasure, and vice versa. The effectiveness order showed the rank of the effectiveness of countermeasures. The smaller the effectiveness order indicated, the more effective the countermeasure was to reduce crashes. Centerline pavement marking was not ranked because it was the basic countermeasure included each time.

Countermossures	Cras	sh Signific Paramoto	Effectiveness	
Countermeasures	W		W ₂	Order
Centerline Pavement Marking	0.3167	0.1149	0.2018	-
Centerline Pavement Marking + Edge Line Pavement Marking	0.1000	0.0363	0.0637	5
Centerline Pavement Marking + Edge Line Pavement Marking + Shoulder Rumble Strips	0.1333	0.0484	0.0849	7
Centerline Pavement Marking + Edge Line Pavement Marking + Flexible delineator posts	0.0833	0.0302	0.0531	4
Centerline Pavement Marking + Edge Line Pavement Marking + Posted Speed Sign	0.0333	0.0121	0.0212	1
Centerline Pavement Marking + Edge Line Pavement Marking + Curve Warning Sign	0.1333	0.0484	0.0849	7
Centerline Pavement Marking + Edge Line Pavement Marking + Curve Speed Warning Sign	0.0667	0.0242	0.0425	3
Centerline Pavement Marking + Edge Line Pavement Marking + Increased Shoulder Width	0.2167	0.0786	0.1381	10
Centerline Pavement Marking + Edge Line Pavement Marking + Changed Horizontal Curve Curvature	0.1000	0.0363	0.0637	5
Centerline Pavement Marking + Edge Line Pavement Marking + Decreased Curve Grade on Negative Grade	0.1333	0.0484	0.0849	7
Centerline Pavement Marking + Edge Line Pavement Marking + Increased Curve Grade on Positive Grade	0.0333	0.0121	0.0212	1

Table 36. W values of the regression analysis for countermeasures and crashes.

Note: - indicates not applicable

Combinations with Weather	Crash Significance Parameter					
Conditions and Traffic Flows	W	W_1	W_2			
Clear Weather and Light Traffic	0.2000	0.0686	0.1314			
Foggy Weather and Light Traffic	0.3833	0.1315	0.2518			
Clear Weather and Heavy Traffic	0.2667	0.0915	0.1752			
Foggy Weather and Heavy Traffic	0.5167	0.1773	0.3394			

Table 37. *W* values of the regression analysis for four combinations and crash.

The results indicated that the edge line pavement marking, flexible delineator posts, curve speed warning sign, posted speed sign, and increased curve grade on positive grade countermeasures are, in general, effective to reduce crashes. On the contrary, adding countermeasures of changed horizontal curve curvature, shoulder rumble strips, curve warning sign, decreased curve grade on negative grade, and increased shoulder width showed no effect in reducing crashes. In particular, for vehicle collisions, edge line pavement marking, flexible delineator posts, posted speed sign, curve speed warning sign, and increased curve grade on positive grade are effective countermeasures, while others did not have obvious effect. For off-road collisions, the effectiveness of countermeasures is similar to vehicle collisions. Overall, drivers had more off-road crashes than vehicle collisions in the experiment.

Then, the crash significance parameters for the four combinations of weather and traffic indicated that the combination of foggy and heavy traffic flow was the most significant factor leading to traffic crashes, while the combination of clear weather and light traffic flow was the least significant combination. The results are same for vehicle collisions and off-road collisions. The possible reason is that clear weather and light traffic flow had better visibility and required less eye workload, reducing the possibility of crashes.

REGRESSIONS BETWEEN COUNTERMEASURES, COGNITIVE ATTENTION, AND CRASH USING MACHINE LEARNING

To establish the relationships between the countermeasures, cognitive attention, and crashes, relationships must be established between the countermeasures and cognitive attention, and also between the cognitive attention and crashes, as shown in figure 38. This can also be done with regression.



Figure 38. Diagram. Regressions for countermeasures, cognitive attention, and crash.

The regression formula seen in equations 4 and 5 can be rewritten as in equations 7 and 8:

$$Y = (BD)A + c$$
(7)
$$W = BD$$
(8)

where W, the significant parameter for the relationship between countermeasures and crash is equal to the product of the significant parameter B—obtained from the regression analysis between the countermeasure and drivers' cognitive attention—and the significance parameter Dbetween drivers' cognitive attention and traffic crash. Due to the varying range of data obtained from the eye tracker that represents cognitive attention, these values needed to undergo a process known as *nominalization*. This is the act of converting each obtained value into a standardized form that carries similar weight power; this is done by dividing each value by its mean value, i.e., each value of the cognitive attention indicator under each countermeasure would be divided by the mean value of that indicator.

Table 38 and table 39 show the regression results, guided by figure 37. The significance parameters (*B*) for eye movements were different for each countermeasure (see table 38). Similarly, a large *B* value meant a high value of the indicator of the eye movements under each countermeasure.

The parameters of D for each indicator of eye movements are listed in table 39. The parameters of D were notably different for the various eye movements indicators. A large parameter Dindicated a big crash rate. The smaller the parameter D, the fewer the crashes. It can be concluded that those cognitive properties of average pupil diameter, saccade duration, number of fixations, and fixation duration are major factors influencing traffic crashes, while the other cognitive properties are not so influential to the crashes.

	Significance Parameter (B)											
Counter measure	Change of Pupil Diameter	Average Pupil Diameter	Saccade Duration	Number of Saccade	Saccade Distance	Saccade Speed	Number of Fixations	Fixation Duration				
1	1.0569	1.0020	1.0387	1.0259	1.0908	1.0615	1.0494	0.9996				
2	1.3459	1.0121	1.0157	0.9491	1.0368	1.0469	0.9766	1.0291				
3	0.8478	0.9859	1.0143	0.9928	0.9742	0.9656	1.0077	1.0262				
4	0.9684	0.9960	1.0064	0.9756	1.0029	0.9939	0.9555	0.9927				
5	1.0713	1.0021	0.9890	1.1034	0.9774	0.9656	1.0188	0.9483				
6	1.0781	1.0114	0.9808	0.9501	0.9795	0.9991	0.9709	0.9965				
7	0.8160	0.9959	0.9667	0.9787	0.9339	0.9446	0.9892	0.9962				
8	1.1439	1.0011	0.9938	0.9060	1.0403	1.0519	0.9247	1.0108				
9	1.0265	1.0104	1.0091	1.0205	1.0556	1.0697	1.0551	1.0140				
10	0.8025	0.9901	0.9974	1.0536	0.9296	0.9227	1.0376	1.0186				
11	0.8427	0.9930	0.9881	1.0442	0.9791	0.9786	1.0144	0.9680				

Table 38. B values of regression analysis between countermeasures and eye movements.

Eye Movements Indicator	Significance Parameter (D) to Traffic Crash			
Change of Pupil Diameter	-0.0020			
Average Pupil Diameter	0.2852			
Saccade Duration	-0.1117			
Number of Saccade	-0.0697			
Saccade Distance	0.0482			
Saccade Speed	-0.0490			
Number of Fixation	0.1277			
Fixation Duration	-0.1048			

Table 39. D values of regression analysis between eye movements and crash.

Table 40 summarizes the relationships between the countermeasures and the cognition properties of drivers. The title of each column is the meaning of eye movement indicators shown in table 7. Saccade durations and number of saccades were not included because, based on the ANOVA results, the countermeasures did not show a significant impact on the two indicators. For cognitive workload, the parameters were the averages for both changes of pupil diameter and average pupil diameter, which measure the cognitive workload of drivers. Then, the average parameters of saccade distance and speed were used to represent the attention shifts. Finally, the parameters of number of fixations and fixation durations showed the level of interest and difficulty of information extraction and understanding, respectively.

	Significance Parameter (B)					
Countermeasures	Cognitive	Attention	Level of	Difficulty of Information		
	Workload	Shifts	Interest	Extraction and		
				Understanding		
Centerline Pavement Marking	1.0295	1.0762	1.0494	0.9996		
Edge Line Pavement Marking	1.1790	1.0419	0.9766	1.0291		
Shoulder Rumble Strips	0.9169	0.9699	1.0077	1.0262		
Flexible delineator posts	0.9822	0.9984	0.9555	0.9927		
Posted Speed Sign	1.0367	0.9715	1.0188	0.9483		
Curve Warning Sign	1.0448	0.9893	0.9709	0.9965		
Curve Speed Warning Sign	0.9060	0.9393	0.9892	0.9962		
Increased Shoulder Width	1.0725	1.0461	0.9247	1.0108		
Changed Horizontal Curve Curvature	1.0185	1.0627	1.0551	1.0140		
Decreased Curve Grade on Negative Grade	0.8963	0.9262	1.0376	1.0186		
Increased Curve Grade on Positive Grade	0.9179	0.9789	1.0144	0.9680		

Table 40. Significance parameters (*B*) between countermeasure and cognition.

Again, the result for centerline pavement marking could not be compared with the others. Adding countermeasures of edge line pavement marking, increased shoulder width, curve warning sign, and posted speed sign reduced the cognitive workload. As discussed previously, a proper level of cognitive workload can usually lead to better driving performance. Then, adding other countermeasures to the section of the curve with the centerline can reduce the attention shifts. A proper level of attention shifts can also improve driving performance. Next, most countermeasures reduced the level of interest after they were added to the basic countermeasure 1. The countermeasure of changed horizontal curve curvature led to the highest level of interest. For the difficulty of information extraction and understanding, countermeasures of flexible delineator posts, posted speed sign, curve warning sign, curve speed warning sign, and increased curve grade on positive grade reduced the difficulty levels and improved the driving performance. Finally, to examine the relationships between countermeasures, drivers' cognitive attention, and traffic crashes, the combined significance parameters $B \times D$ in equation 7 are shown in table 41. The smaller $B \times D$ is, the more effective the countermeasures are. The effectiveness order showed the rank of countermeasures in reducing crashes. The way to judge the effectiveness of countermeasures is performed as follows:

- 1. The top four effective countermeasures on combined significance parameters in each column in table 41 were selected. For the cognitive workload, shoulder rumble strips, decreased curve grade on negative grade, increased curve grade on positive grade, and flexible delineator posts were selected. For the attention shifts column, curve warning sign, changed horizontal curve curvature, increased shoulder width, and edge line pavement marking were selected. For the level of interest, shoulder width, flexible delineator posts, curve warning sign, and edge line pavement marking were selected. For the level of interest, shoulder width, flexible delineator posts, curve warning sign, and edge line pavement marking were selected. For the difficulty of information extraction and understanding, edge line pavement marking, shoulder rumble strips, decreased curve grade on negative grade, and changed horizontal curve curvature were selected. A total of 16 countermeasures were selected.
- 2. The duplicates in the 16 countermeasures were removed, resulting in eight countermeasures. Besides, changed horizontal curve curvature, decreased curve grade on negative grade, and increased curve grade on positive grade were removed since those were not able to be accurately felt by drivers during simulation. As a result, edge line pavement marking, shoulder rumble strips, flexible delineator posts, curve warning sign, and increased shoulder width were the effective countermeasures.

92

	Combined Significance Parameters (B×D)								
Countermeasures	Cognitive Workload		Attention Shifts		Level of Interest		Difficulty of Information Extraction and Understanding		
	B×D	Effectiveness Order	B×D	Effectiveness Order	B×D	Effectiveness Order	B×D	Effectiveness Order	
Centerline Pavement Marking	0.1418	-	0.0003	-	0.1340	-	-0.1048	-	
Edge Line Pavement Marking	0.1430	8	-0.0007	3	0.1247	4	-0.1078	1	
Shoulder Rumble Strips	0.1397	1	-0.0002	7	0.1287	6	-0.1075	2	
Flexible Delineator Posts	0.1411	4	-0.0002	7	0.1220	2	-0.1040	8	
Posted Speed Sign	0.1418	6	-0.0001	10	0.1301	8	-0.0994	10	
Curve Warning Sign	0.1431	9	-0.0009	1	0.1240	3	-0.1044	6	
Curve Speed Warning Sign	0.1412	5	-0.0006	5	0.1263	5	-0.1044	6	
Increased Shoulder Width	0.1416	7	-0.0007	3	0.1181	1	-0.1059	5	
Changed Horizontal Curve Curvature	0.1431	9	-0.0008	2	0.1347	10	-0.1063	4	
Decreased Curve Grade on Negative Grade	0.1404	2	-0.0002	7	0.1325	9	-0.1067	3	
Increased Curve Grade on Positive Grade	0.1408	3	-0.0004	6	0.1295	7	-0.1014	9	

Table 41. Combined significance parameters (*B*×*D*) between crash, countermeasure, and cognition.

First, adding the countermeasure of edge line pavement marking maintained the proper level of attention shifts, attracted drivers' visual attention on fewer points, but had more time on each point to extract and understand information. Thus, drivers had the focused attention under this countermeasure, and it was an effective countermeasure to reduce crashes in this case. Another study also identified edge line pavement marking as an effective countermeasure that can reduce 23-28 percent of crashes (Jalayer and Zhou 2016). Second, the countermeasure of shoulder rumble strip effectiveness was identified in reducing speed (Charlton 2007), reducing 47–61.6 percent of all-severity traffic crashes (Jalayer and Zhou 2016), and was shown to be an effective countermeasure to reduce crashes in this case. Third, the countermeasure of flexible delineator posts was identified to effectively improve safety by reducing off-road collisions. The effectiveness of this countermeasure was also supported by previous work (Siddharthan et al. 2003). Fourth, the countermeasure of curve warning sign maintained the proper level of attention shifts of drivers to reduce crashes, which can be supported by previous work (Jalayer and Zhou 2016). Finally, the countermeasure of increased shoulder width attracted drivers' attention and provided proper visual information to improve traffic safety, as emphasized in other work (Gross and Jovanis 2007).

It can be concluded that after considering drivers' cognitive attention, the results are close to realistically showing the effectiveness of countermeasures. Thus, the proposed methodology considering both drivers' cognition and performance is reliable to evaluate countermeasures.

CHAPTER 5. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

CONCLUSIONS

This study simulated a selected curve section of rural road on Cypress Lake Road, Statesboro, GA, with both horizontal and vertical curves, and both left and right turns. A total of 11 countermeasures of pavement marking, signage, roadway improvement, and 4 combinations of 2 weather conditions (foggy and clear) and 2 traffic flows (light and heavy traffic volume) were simulated to create different scenarios. A driving simulator, eye tracker, and questionnaires were used to collect data on eye movements, driving performance, and short-term memory. Sixty participants of diverse genders, ages, ethnicities, etc. participated in the experiment for collecting data. ANOVA was used for the analysis of the data to determine if the eye movements and driving performance were affected by the countermeasure, combination of weather and traffic, and sequence of driving. Regression analyses were performed to discover the effectiveness of the countermeasures to reduce crashes.

The main conclusions from the study were made as follows:

- 1. There were significant differences in most of the eye movements and driving performance indicators for different countermeasures based on the ANOVA tests.
- 2. The combinations of different weather conditions and traffic flows also had a significant impact on the indicators of driving performance, eye movements, and short-term memory. Different driving scenarios were key factors influencing drivers' performance and attention during the experiment.
- 3. The proposed methodology using both the driving simulator and eye tracker was more effective in measuring the effectiveness of countermeasures to improve traffic safety in

comparison with the method that only considered driving performance and countermeasures.

- 4. The regressions between the countermeasures and the crash that considered cognitive properties indicated that the countermeasures of edge line pavement marking, shoulder rumble strips, flexible delineator posts, curve warning sign, and increased shoulder width are effective countermeasures that can attract drivers' attention and maintain the proper level of cognitive workload and visual information to reduce traffic crashes and improve the traffic safety. These findings considering cognitive properties were close to what is expected in a real situation.
- 5. The regressions between the countermeasures and the crash that did not consider cognitive properties indicated that the countermeasures of posted speed sign, curve speed warning sign, and increased curve grade on positive grade were also effective to improve traffic safety based on the relationships between crashes and countermeasures without cognition. They can reduce the number of crashes in the selected two-lane rural road curve section. These findings without considering cognitive properties were different from what is expected in a real situation.
- 6. For the combinations of weather conditions and traffic flow, foggy weather with heavy traffic flow was the most dangerous scenario that caused the most crashes including vehicle collisions and off-road collisions, while clear weather and light traffic flow was a safer combination that led to the lowest number of crashes.

96

RECOMMENDATIONS

These conclusions have important practical and theoretical contributions. Practically, the effects of countermeasures and the combinations of weather conditions and traffic flow on driving performance, eye movements, and short-term memory were identified to improve roadway safety. The experiment design based on a driving simulator and eye tracker can also be used for future projects in Georgia to evaluate the effectiveness of countermeasures or to simulate diverse driving scenarios.

Theoretically, through the involvement of cognitive attention, the study provided comprehensive evidence of and insights into the effectiveness of countermeasures, weather conditions, and traffic flow on drivers' behavior and cognitive attention. In addition, the project identified the effectiveness of creating groups with different sequences for participants in the experiment, which can be applied in future studies.

In addition, based on the findings, the following recommendations are provided for GDOT to improve traffic safety in rural road curve sections in Georgia:

- The project identified the relationships between drivers' cognitive attention, driving
 performance, and countermeasures to examine the effectiveness of the countermeasures
 on reducing crashes. GDOT can use drivers' cognitive attention to explain and
 understand the driving performance to improve the design and setting of countermeasures
 and further improve traffic safety.
- 2. The combination of a driving simulator and eye tracker was verified to be an effective method to evaluate the effectiveness of countermeasures on traffic safety in a two-lane rural road curve section. The methodology proposed by the project can also be applied to

97

investigate other countermeasures, as well as to simulate different scenarios (e.g., other types of roads, weather conditions, traffic flows, etc.).

- 3. The countermeasures of edge line pavement marking, shoulder rumble strips, flexible delineator posts, curve warning sign, and increased shoulder width were proven to be effective countermeasures that can attract drivers' cognition and further reduce traffic crashes. They should be properly implemented in order to improve safety in two-lane rural curve areas in Georgia.
- 4. Finally, weather conditions and traffic flow were also critical factors impacting drivers' cognition and performance. GDOT can consider the common traffic flows and weather conditions in the road areas when designing and setting up the countermeasures to better improve traffic safety.
TABLE OF TERMS

Symbol and term	Definition		
Terms used for statistical analysis			
μ_i	Group mean value for countermeasure <i>i</i>		
С	A constant value		
р	P-value of the ANOVA test		
Y	The dependable variable		
W	The significance parameter		
W_1	The significance parameter for vehicle collisions		
W_2	The significance parameter for off-road collisions		
A	The various independent variables		
С	The approximation error		
Τ	The identity matrix of the simulation		
В	The significant parameter between the countermeasure and drivers'		
	cognitive attention		
D	The significance parameter between drivers' cognitive attention and		
	traffic crash		
Terms used for simul	ation plan		
MUTCD	Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices		
Combination	Four combinations of two weather conditions (clear and foggy) and two		
	traffic flows (light and heavy traffic flows)		
Sequence	the different sequences of combinations that appeared in the driving		
	simulation task		
Order	the different starting time points for each combination		
Terms used for cognition			
Pupillometry	Diameter of pupil		
Saccade	Fast eye movements between different fixation points		
Fixation	Eye movements located within a spatially limited region for a minimum		
	period		

APPENDIX A: PRE-SURVEY

Your ID (provided by the research team):

Part 1: Basic Information

Do you have a valid Georgia driver's license?

What county do you live in?

What city do you live in?

What is your gender?

- Male
- Female
- Prefer not to say

What is your ethnicity?

- White
- Hispanic or Latino
- Black or African American
- Native American or American Indian
- Asian/Pacific Islander
- Other (please specify)
- Prefer not to say

What is your age?

What is your highest level of education?

- Some High School
- High school
- Some college
- Associate
- Bachelor
- Master
- Doctorate
- Other (please specify)

What is your current occupation?

Part 2: Household Status and Habits

What is your marital status?

- Single, never married
- Married or domestic partnership
- Widowed
- Divorced
- Separated
- Prefer not to say

What is your visual ability (select all the items that you meet)?

- Myopia
- Hypermetropia
- Normal
- Color blindness
- Other (please specify)

Do you wear glasses when driving?

- Yes
- No

What is your smoking habit?

- Not at all
- Sometimes
- Everyday

What is your alcohol consumption habit?

- Not at all
- Sometimes
- Everyday

Part 3: Driving experience

Please specify the year you got your U.S. driving license:_

How many years of driving experience do you have?

How many hours do you drive on average per week?

How many miles do you drive annually?

Did you receive any tickets/traffic violation?

- No
- Yes (please specify)

Did you have any crashes during your driving experience?

- No
- Yes (please specify)

Did you have any near-miss crashes during your driving experience?

- No
- Yes (please specify)

APPENDIX B: SHORT-TERM MEMORY QUESTIONNAIRE

Your ID (provided by the research team):

Combination 1

1. Please choose ALL the items that you saw during the simulation.



2. Please choose ALL the items that you saw during the simulation.



3. Please choose ALL the items that you saw during the simulation.



4. How confident are you in your ability to identify road signs quickly and accurately?

1	2	3	4	5
Not at all confident	Slightly confident	Moderately confident	Very confident	Extremely confident

Combination 2

1. Please choose ALL the items that you saw during the simulation.









2. Please choose ALL the items that you saw during the simulation.





3. Please choose ALL the items that you saw during the simulation.



4. How confident are you in your ability to identify road signs quickly and accurately?

1	2	3	4	5
Not at all confident	Slightly confident	Moderately confident	Very confident	Extremely confident

Combination 3

1. Please choose ALL the items that you saw during the simulation.



2. Please choose ALL the items that you saw during the simulation.









В

3. Please choose ALL the items that you saw during the simulation.



4. How confident are you in your ability to identify road signs quickly and accurately?

1	2	3	4	5
Not at all confident	Slightly confident	Moderately confident	Very confident	Extremely confident

Combination 4

1. Please choose ALL the items that you saw during the simulation. If you choose the item, please specify your **understanding of this countermeasure** (e.g., turn right, stop, etc.).









Understanding: _____

B Understanding: _





2. Please choose ALL the images that you saw during the simulation. If you choose the item, please specify your **understanding of this countermeasure** (e.g., turn right, stop, etc.).



3. Please RANK the following images as the sequence you saw them during the simulation:



4. How confident are you in your ability to identify road signs quickly and accurately?

1	2	3	4	5
Not at all confident	Slightly confident	Moderately confident	Very confident	Extremely confident

APPENDIX C: POST-SURVEY

Your ID (provided by the research team):

- 1. Did you experience dizziness during the simulation experiment? Check the answers that match your results. If you had any other symptoms, please specify in the box.
 - Yes
 - No
 - Other Symptoms (please specify below)
- 2. Was it your first time attending an experiment with the use of an eye tracker? Check the answers that match best your experience.
 - Yes
 - No
 - Other (please specify below)

3. How helpful was the incentive to encourage your participation in this experiment?

1	2	3	4	5
Not at all helpful	Slightly helpful	Moderately helpful	Very helpful	Extremely helpful

4. Please rank the helpfulness of the research team on a scale of 1 to 5?

1	2	3	4	5
Not at all helpful	Slightly helpful	Moderately helpful	Very helpful	Extremely helpful

5. Please check the one that matches your experience best and sign at the end.

I took break sessions during the testing and did not experience	
dizziness/injury	
I took break sessions during the testing and experienced dizziness/injury	
I did not take any break and did not experience dizziness/injury	
I did not take any break and experienced dizziness/injury	

Participant Signature

Date

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The project research team acknowledges the financial support from the Georgia Department of Transportation (GDOT). The team also wants to thank the Office of Traffic Operation and Office of Performance-Based Management and Research for their technical support, especially E. David Adams, the State Safety Program Manager, and Brennan Roney, the Research Project Manager, for their technical discussions during the research.

REFERENCES

- Ackerman, M.L., Edwards, J.D., Ross, L.A., Ball, K.K., and Lunsman, M. (2008).
 "Examination of Cognitive and Instrumental Functional Performance as Indicators for Driving Cessation Risk Across 3 Years." *The Gerontologist*, 48(6), pp. 802–810. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/48.6.802.
- Alexander J., Barham, P., and Black, I. (2002). "Factors influencing the probability of an incident at a junction: results from an interactive driving simulator." *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 34(6), 779-792. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0001-4575(01)00078-1
- American Community Survey (ACS). (2018). "Data USA: Georgia." (website) Available online: https://www.census.gov/acs/www/data/data-tables-and-tools/dataprofiles/2018/, last accessed April 16, 2021
- Andrews, E.C. and Westerman, S.J. (2012). "Age Differences in Simulated Driving Performance: Compensatory Processes." *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 45, pp. 660–668. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2011.09.047.
- Averbach, E. and Coriell, A.S. (1961). "Short-Term Memory in Vision." *Bell System Technical Journal*, 40(1), pp. 309–328. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1538-7305.1961.tb03987.x.
- Bauer, K.M. and Harwood, D.W. (2013). "Safety Effects of Horizontal Curve and Grade Combinations on Rural Two-Lane Highways." *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board*, 2398, pp. 37–49. Available online: https://doi.org/10.3141/2398-05.
- Behnood, A. and Mannering, F.L. (2017). "The Effects of Drug and Alcohol Consumption on Driver Injury Severities in Single-Vehicle Crashes." *Traffic Injury Prevention*, 18(5), pp. 456–462. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1080/15389588.2016.1262540.
- Birrell, S.A. and Young, M.S. (2011). "The Impact of Smart Driving Aids on Driving Performance and Driver Distraction." *Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour*, 14(6), pp. 484–493. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trf.2011.08.004.
- Brookhuis, K.A. and de Waard, D. (2010). "Monitoring Drivers' Mental Workload in Driving Simulators Using Physiological Measures." Accident Analysis & Prevention, 42(3), pp. 898–903. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2009.06.001.

- Brooks, J.O., Goodenough, R.R., Crisler, M.C., Klein, N.D., et al. (2010). "Simulator Sickness During Driving Simulation Studies." *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 42(3), pp. 788–796. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2009.04.013.
- Caird, J.K., Willness, C.R., Steel, P., and Scialfa, C. (2008). "A Meta-analysis of the Effects of Cell Phones on Driver Performance." *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 40(4), pp. 1282–1293. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2008.01.009.
- Case, R., Kurland, D.M., and Goldberg, J. (1982). "Operational Efficiency and the Growth of Short-term Memory Span." *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 33(3), pp. 386–404. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-0965(82)90054-6.
- Castro, C. (2008). *Human Factors of Visual and Cognitive Performance in Driving*. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1201/9781420055337.
- Charlton, S.G. (2007). "The Role of Attention in Horizontal Curves: A Comparison of Advance Warning, Delineation, and Road Marking Treatments." Accident Analysis & Prevention, 39(5), pp. 873–885. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2006.12.007.
- Colrain, I.M., Mangan, G.L., Pellett, O.L., and Bates, T.C. (1992). "Effects of Postlearning Smoking on Memory Consolidation." *Psychopharmacology*, 108(4), pp. 448–451. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02247419.
- Cornelissen, F.W., Peters, E.M., and Palmer, J. (2002). "The Eyelink Toolbox: Eye Tracking with MATLAB and the Psychophysics Toolbox." *Behavior Research Methods, Instruments, & Computers, 34*(4), pp. 613–617. Available online: https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03195489.
- Costa, M., Bichicchi, A., Nese, M., Lantieri, C., Vignali, V., and Simone, A. (2019).
 "T-junction Priority Scheme and Road User's Yielding Behavior." *Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour*, 60, pp. 770–782. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trf.2018.12.009.
- Costa, M., Simone, A., Vignali, V., Lantieri, C., and Palena, N. (2018). "Fixation Distance and Fixation Duration to Vertical Road Signs." *Applied Ergonomics*, 69(November 2017), pp. 48–57. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apergo.2017.12.017.
- Cotton, C.P., Proctor, C., Barlament, J., Loftin, L., and Fors, S. (2010). 2009 Georgia Motor Vehicle Fatality Report. GA-2010-163-00409, Preliminary Report Draft, University of Georgia, Athens, GA.
- Cowan, N. (2008). "What are the Differences Between Long-term, Short-term, and Working Memory?" *Progress in Brain Research*, *169*(07), pp. 323–338. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0079-6123(07)00020-9.

- de Greef, T., Lafeber, H., van Oostendorp, H., and Lindenberg, J. (2009). "Eye Movement as Indicators of Mental Workload to Trigger Adaptive Automation." In: Schmorrow, D.D., Estabrooke, I.V., Grootjen, M. (eds), *Foundations of Augmented Cognition: Neuroergonomics and Operational Neuroscience*. FAC 2009. Lecture Notes in *Computer Science*, 5638. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-02812-0_26.
- de Winter, J.C.F., de Groot, S., Mulder, M., Wieringa, P.A., Dankelman, J., and Mulder, J.A. (2009). "Relationships Between Driving Simulator Performance and Driving Test Results." *Ergonomics*, 52(2), pp. 137–153. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1080/00140130802277521.
- Desmet, C. and Diependaele, K. (2019). "An Eye-tracking Study on the Road Examining the Effects of Handsfree Phoning on Visual Attention." *Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour*, *60*, pp. 549–559. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trf.2018.11.013.
- Di Stasi, L., Renner, R., Staehr, P., Helmert, J.R., Velichkovsky, B.M., Cañas, J.J., Catena, A., and Pannasch, S. (2010). "Saccadic Peak Velocity Sensitivity to Variations in Mental Workload." *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine*, 81(4), pp. 413–417. Available online: https://doi.org/10.3357/ASEM.2579.2010.
- Dia, H. (2001). "An Object-oriented Neural Network Approach to Short-term Traffic Forecasting." *European Journal of Operational Research*, *131*(2), pp. 253–261. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0377-2217(00)00125-9.
- Domeyer, J.E., Cassavaugh, N.D., and Backs, R.W. (2013). "The Use of Adaptation to Reduce Simulator Sickness in Driving Assessment and Research." *Accident Analysis* & *Prevention*, 53, pp. 127–132. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2012.12.039.
- Eason, G., Noble, B., and Sneddon, I.N. (1955). "On Certain Integrals of Lipschitz-Hankel Type Involving Products of Bessel Functions." *Philosophical Transactions* of the Royal Society of London. Series A: Mathematical and Physical Sciences, 247(935), pp. 529–551. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1098/rsta.1955.0005.
- Espy, K.A. and Bull, R. (2005). "Inhibitory Processes in Young Children and Individual Variation in Short-Term Memory." *Developmental Neuropsychology*, 28(2), pp. 669–688. Available online: https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1207/s15326942dn2802_6.
- Fisher, D.L., Rizzo, M., Caird, J.K., and Lee, J.D. (2011). Handbook of Driving Simulation for Engineering, Medicine, and Psychology. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1201/b10836.
- Georgia Department of Transportation (GDOT). (2021a). "Georgia Crash Data." (website) Available online: https://gdot.numetric.net/crash-data#/, last accessed April 16, 2021.

- Georgia Department of Transportation (GDOT). (2021b). *Design Policy Manual*. Rev. 6.4, Atlanta, GA. Available online: http://www.dot.ga.gov/PartnerSmart/DesignManuals/DesignPolicy/GDOT-DPM.pdf.
- Georgia Governor's Office of Highway Safety (GGOHS). (2017). 2018 Georgia Highway Safety Plan. Georgia Governor's Office of Highway Safety, Atlanta, GA. Available online: https://www.nhtsa.gov/sites/nhtsa.gov/files/documents/georgia_fy2018_hsp.pdf.
- Gross, F. and Jovanis, P.P. (2007). "Estimation of Safety Effectiveness of Changes in Shoulder Width with Case Control and Cohort Methods." *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board*, 2019(1), pp. 237–245. Available online: https://doi.org/10.3141/2019-28.
- Gross, F., Jovanis, P.P., and Eccles, K. (2009). "Safety Effectiveness of Lane and Shoulder Width Combinations on Rural, Two-Lane, Undivided Roads." *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board*, 2103(1), pp. 42–49. Available online: https://doi.org/10.3141/2103-06.
- Guo, F., Simons-Morton, B.G., Klauer, S.E., Ouimet, M.C., Dingus, T.A., and Lee, S.E. (2013). "Variability in Crash and Near-Crash Risk among Novice Teenage Drivers: A Naturalistic Study." *The Journal of Pediatrics*, *163*(6), pp. 1670–1676. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeds.2013.07.025.
- Hallmark Shauna L. (2012). Relationship between Speed and Lateral Position on Curves. Report Part of MTC Project 2009-03, Midwest Transportation Consortium, Ames, IA. Avaiable online: https://rosap.ntl.bts.gov/view/dot/26103
- Hasher, L., Zacks, R.T., and May, C.P. (1999). "Inhibitory Control, Circadian Arousal, and Age." In Gopher, D. and Koriat, A. (eds), *Attention and Performance XVII*, MIT Press, Cambridge, MA. pp. 653–675. Available online: https://doi.org/10.7551/mitpress/1480.003.0032 and https://www.researchgate.net/publication/242173728_Inhibitory_control_circadian_ arousal_and_age.
- Hill, E.J., Ferris, M., and Martinson, V. (2003). "Does It Matter Where You Work? A Comparison of How Three Work Venues (Traditional Office, Virtual Office, and Home Office) Influence Aspects of Work and Personal/Family Life." *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 63(2), pp. 220–241. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0001-8791(03)00042-3.
- Jacobs, M., Hart, E.P., and Roos, R.A.C. (2017). "Driving with a Neurodegenerative Disorder: An Overview of the Current Literature." *Journal of Neurology*, *264*(8), pp. 1678–1696. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-017-8489-9.
- Jalayer, M. and Zhou, H. (2016). "Overview of Safety Countermeasures for Roadway Departure Crashes." *ITE Journal (Institute of Transportation Engineers)*, 86(2), pp.

39–46. Available online:

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/293333732_Overview_of_Safety_Counter measures_for_Roadway_Departure_Crashes.

- Jiao, F., Du, Z., Wang, S., Ni, Y., and He, R. (2020). "Drivers' Saccade Characteristics in Curves of Extra-Long Urban Underwater Tunnels." *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Tranportation Research Board*, 2674(2), pp, 102–111. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1177/0361198120904643.
- Jin, L., Xian, H., Jiang, Y., Niu, Q., Xu, M., and Yang, D. (2014). "Research on Evaluation Model for Secondary Task Driving Safety Based on Driver Eye Movements." *Advances in Mechanical Engineering*, 6, 624561. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/624561.
- Kane, M.J., Bleckley, M.K., Conway, A.R.A., and Engle, R.W. (2001). "A Controlled-Attention View of Working-Memory Capacity. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, 130(2), pp. 169–183. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1037/0096-3445.130.2.169.
- Kapitaniak, B., Walczak, M., Kosobudzki, M., Jozwiak, Z., and Bortkiewicz, A. (2015).
 "Application of Eye-Tracking in Drivers Testing: A Review of Research." *International Journal of Occupational Medicine and Environmental Health*, 28(6), pp. 941–954. Available online: https://doi.org/10.13075/ijomeh.1896.00317.
- Khan, S.A. (2010). "Work Zone Safety: Perceptual Countermeasures to Speeding Using Synchronized Warning Lights." *Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting*, 54(21), pp. 1860–1864. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1177%2F154193121005402107.
- Konstantopoulos, P., Chapman, P., and Crundall, D. (2010). "Driver's Visual Driving Simulator to Explore Drivers' Eye Movements in Day, Night and Rain Driving." *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 42(3), pp. 827–834. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2009.092.
- Lee, H.C., Cameron, D., and Lee, A.H. (2003). "Assessing the Driving Performance of Older Adult Drivers: On-road Versus Simulated Driving." Accident Analysis & Prevention, 35(5), pp. 797–803. Available online: https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0001-4575(02)00083-0.
- Lee, S.E., Simons-Morton, B.G., Klauer, S.E., Ouimet, M.C., and Dingus, T.A. (2011). "Naturalistic Assessment of Novice Teenage Crash Experience." *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 43(4), pp. 1472–1479. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2011.02.026.
- Lehtonen, E., Lappi, O., and Summala, H. (2012). "Anticipatory Eye Movements When Approaching a Curve on a Rural Road Depend on Working Memory Load." *Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour*, 15(3), pp. 369– 377. Available online: https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trf.2011.08.007.

- Lehtonen, E., Lappi, O., Koirikivi, I., and Summala, H. (2014). "Effect of Driving Experience on Anticipatory Look-ahead Fixations in Real Curve Driving." Accident Analysis & Prevention, 70, pp. 195–208. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2014.04.002.
- Lenné, M.G., Rudin-Brown, C.M., Navarro, J., Edquist, J., Trotter, M., and Tomasevic, N. (2011). "Driver Behaviour at Rail Level Crossings: Responses to Flashing Lights, Traffic Signals and Stop Signs in Simulated Rural Driving." *Applied Ergonomics*, 42(4), pp. 548–554. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apergo.2010.08.011.
- Lew, H.L., Poole, J.H., Lee, E.H., Jaffe, D.L., Huang, H.-C., and Brodd, E. (2005). "Predictive Validity of Driving-Simulator Assessments Following Traumatic Brain Injury: A Preliminary Study." *Brain Injury*, 19(3), pp. 177–188. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1080/02699050400017171.
- Marquart, G., Cabrall, C., and de Winter, J. (2015). "Review of Eye-related Measures of Drivers' Mental Workload." *Procedia Manufacturing*, 3, pp. 2854–2861. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.promfg.2015.07.783.
- Marshall, S.P. (2002). "The Index of Cognitive Activity: Measuring Cognitive Workload." In *Proceedings of the IEEE 7th Conference on Human Factors and Power Plants*, pp. 75–79. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1109/HFPP.2002.1042860.
- Mauriello, F., Montella, A., Pernetti, M., and Galante, F. (2018). "An Exploratory Analysis of Curve Trajectories on Two-Lane Rural Highways." *Sustainability*, *10*(11), 4248. Available online: http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/su10114248.
- Mayhew, D.R., Simpson, H.M., Wood, K.M., Lonero, L., Clinton, K.M., and Johnson, A.G. (2011). "On-road and Simulated Driving: Concurrent and Discriminant Validation." *Journal of Safety Research*, 42(4), pp. 267–275. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsr.2011.06.004.
- McGwin, J.G. and Brown, D.B. (1999). "Characteristics of Traffic Crashes among Young, Middle-aged, and Older Drivers." *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 31(3), pp. 181–198. Available online: https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0001-4575(98)00061-X.
- McLean, J. (1981). "Driver Speed Behaviour and Rural Road Alignment Design." *Traffic Engineering and Control*, 22(4), pp. 208–211.
- Mohellebi, H., Espié, S., Kheddar, A., Arioui, H., and Amouri, A. (2007). "Design of Low-clearance Motion Platform for Driving Simulators." In Arai, E. and Arai, T. (eds), *Mechatronics for Safety, Security and Dependability in a New Era*, Elsevier, pp. 401–404.
- Najar, S.A. and Sanjram, P.K. (2018). "Gaze Behavior and Human Error in Distracted Driving: Unlocking the Complexity of Articulatory Rehearsal Mechanism.

Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour, 59(A), pp. 12–23. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trf.2018.08.005.

- National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA). (2020). "Overview of Motor Vehicle Crashes in 2019" (research note) Washington, DC. Available online: https://www.nhtsa.gov/press-releases/nhtsa-releases-2019-crash-fatality-data
- Nyström, M. and Holmqvist, K. (2010). "An Adaptive Algorithm for Fixation, Saccade, and Glissade Detection in Eyetracking Data." *Behavior Research Methods*, 42(1), pp. 188–204. Available online: https://doi.org/10.3758/BRM.42.1.188.
- Palinko, O. and Kun, A.L. (2012). "Exploring the Effects of Visual Cognitive Load and Illumination on Pupil Diameter in Driving Simulators." *Proceedings of the Symposium on Eye Tracking Research and Applications – ETRA '12*, pp. 413–416. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1145/2168556.2168650.
- Petrillo, A. and De Felice, F. (2011). "Methodological Approach for Performing Human Reliability and Error Analysis in Railway Transportation System." *International Journal of Engineering and Technology*, 3(5), pp. 341–353. Available online: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/281176039_Methodological_Approach_fo r_Performing_Human_Reliability_and_Error_Analysis_in_Railway_Transportation _System.
- Räsänen, M. (2005). "Effects of a Rumble Strip Barrier Line on Lane Keeping in a Curve." Accident Analysis & Prevention, 37(3), pp. 575–581. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2005.02.001.
- Recarte, M.A. and Nunes, L.M. (2000). "Effects of Verbal and Spatial-imagery Tasks on Eye Fixations While Driving." *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Applied*, 6(1), pp. 31–43. Available online: https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/1076-898X.6.1.31.
- Recarte, M.A., Pérez, E., Conchillo, A., and Nunes, L.M. (2008). "Mental Workload and Visual Impairment: Differences Between Pupil, Blink, and Subjective Rating." *The Spanish Journal of Psychology*, *11*(2), pp. 374–385. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1017/S1138741600004406.
- Reed, M.P. and Green, P.A. (1999). "Comparison of Driving Performance On-road and in a Low-cost Simulator Using a Concurrent Telephone Dialling Task." *Ergonomics*, 42(8), pp. 1015–1037. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1080/001401399185117.
- Reimer, B., Mehler, B., Wang, Y., and Coughlin, J.F. (2012). "A Field Study on the Impact of Variations in Short-Term Memory Demands on Drivers' Visual Attention and Driving Performance Across Three Age Groups." *Human Factors*, 54(3), pp. 454–468. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1177/0018720812437274.
- Reyes, M.L. and Lee, J.D. (2008). "Effects of Cognitive Load Presence and Duration on Driver Eye Movements and Event Detection Performance." *Transportation Research. Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour*, 11(6), pp. 391–402. Available

online: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trf.2008.03.004.

- Reymond, G., Kemeny, A., Droulez, J., and Berthoz, A. (2001). "Role of Lateral Acceleration in Curve Driving: Driver Model and Experiments on a Real Vehicle and a Driving Simulator." *Human Factors*, *43*(3), pp. 483–495. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1518/001872001775898188.
- Richardson, D.C. and Spivey, M.J. (2004a). "Eye Tracking: Characteristics and Methods." In Wnek, G. and Bowlin, G. (eds), *Encyclopedia of Biomaterials and Biomedical Engineering*, Dekker, NY, pp. 1028–1042.
- Richardson, D.C. and Spivey, M.J. (2004b). "Eye Tracking: Research Areas and Applications." In Wnek, G. and Bowlin, G. (eds), *Encyclopedia of Biomaterials and Biomedical Engineering*, Dekker, NY, pp. 573–582.
- Rizzo, M., Sheffield, R. A., Stierman, L., and Dawson, J. (2003). "Demographic and Driving P aphic and Driving Performance F formance Factors in Simulat ors in Simulator Adaptation Syndrome." . *Proceedings of the Second International Driving Symposium on Human Factors in Driver Assessment, Training and Vehicle Design*, pp. 201-208. Avaiable online: https://doi.org/10.17077/drivingassessment.1123
- Sagaspe, P., Taillard, J., Bayon, V., Lagarde, E., Moore, N., Boussuge, J., Chaumet, G., Bioulac, B., and Philip, P. (2010). "Sleepiness, Near-misses and Driving Accidents Among a Representative Population of French Drivers." *Journal of Sleep Research*, 19(4), pp. 578–584. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2869.2009.00818.x.
- Saleem, T. and Persaud, B. (2017). "Another Look at the Safety Effects of Horizontal Curvature on Rural Two-lane Highways." *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, *106*, pp. 149–159. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2017.04.001.
- Shao, H. (2010). "Fading Model of Driver's Short-term Memory of Traffic Signs." 2010 International Conference on Machine Vision and Human-Machine Interface (MVHI), 2, pp. 704–707. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1109/MVHI.2010.57.
- Shechtman, O. (2010). "Validation of Driving Simulators." *Advances in Transportation Studies, Special 2010*, pp. 53–62.
- Siddharthan, R. V., Fine, R. L., & Dennett, K. E. (2003). Study of Flexible Delineator Post Performance and Revision of Existing Pre-Qualification Specifications. Report No. RDT 03-042, Transportation Research Board, Washington, DC. Available online: https://trid.trb.org/view/680847/, last accessed July 15, 2021.
- St Clair-Thompson, H.L. (2010). "Backwards Digit Recall: A Measure of Short-term Memory or Working Memory?" *European Journal of Cognitive Psychology*, 22(2), pp. 286–296. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1080/09541440902771299.

Stutts, J.C. and Hunter, W.W. (2003). "Driver Inattention, Driver Distraction and Traffic

Crashes." Institute of Transportation Engineers Journal, 73(7), pp. 34–36, 43–45.

- Stutts, J.C., Reinfurt, D.W., Staplin, L., and Rodgman, E. (2001). *The Role of Driver Distraction in Traffic Crashes*. AAA Foundation for Traffic Safety, Washington, DC. Available online: https://rosap.ntl.bts.gov/view/dot/17717.
- Takeda, Y., Sato, T., Kimura, K., Komine, H., Akamatsu, M., and Sato, J. (2016).
 "Electrophysiological Evaluation of Attention in Drivers and Passengers: Toward an Understanding of Drivers' Attentional State in Autonomous Vehicles." *Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour*, 42(1), pp. 140–150. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trf.2016.07.008.
- Tsyganov, A., Machemehl, R., Qatan, A., and Warrenchuk, N. (2005). Driver Responses to Urban Freeway Information Loads: A Summary. Center for Transportation Research, University of Texas at Austin. Available online: http://ctr.utexas.edu/wpcontent/uploads/pubs/0_4621_S.pdf.
- Victor, T., Dozza, M., Bärgman, J., Boda, C.-N., et al. (2015). Analysis of Naturalistic Driving Study Data: Safer Glances, Driver Inattention, and Crash Risk. Report S2-S08A-RW-1, Strategic Highway Research Program 2, Transportation Research Board, Washington, DC. Available online: https://dx.doi.org/10.17226/22297.
- Vignali, V., Cuppi, F., Acerra, E., Bichicchi, A., et al. (2019). "Effects of Median Refuge Island and Flashing Vertical Sign on Conspicuity and Safety of Unsignalized Crosswalks." *Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour*, 60, pp. 427–439. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trf.2018.10.033.
- Wang, B., Hallmark, S., Savolainen, P., and Dong, J. (2018). "Examining Vehicle Operating Speeds on Rural Two-lane Curves Using Naturalistic Driving Data." *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 118, pp. 236–243. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2018.03.017.
- Whitmire, J., II, Morgan, J.F., Oron-Gilad, T., and Hancock, P.A. (2011). "The Effect of In-vehicle Warning Systems on Speed Compliance in Work Zones." *Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour*, 14(5), pp. 331–340. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trf.2011.04.001.
- Wong, J.-T. and Huang, S.-H. (2013). "Attention Allocation Patterns in Naturalistic Driving." Accident Analysis & Prevention, 58, pp. 140–147. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2013.04.033.
- Yan, X., Radwan, E., Guo, D., and Richards, S. (2009). "Impact of 'Signal Ahead' Pavement Marking on Driver Behavior at Signalized Intersections." *Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour*, 12(1), pp. 50–67. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trf.2008.07.002.
- Zhao, X., Ju, Y., Li, H., Zhang, C., and Ma, J. (2020). "Safety of Raised Pavement Markers in Freeway Tunnels Based on Driving Behavior." *Accident Analysis &*

Prevention, *145*, 105708. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2020.105708.

- Zwahlen, H.T. (1987). "Advisory Speed Signs and Curve Signs and Their Effect on Driver Eye Scanning and Driving Performance." *Transportatioin Research Record*, *1111*, pp 110–120. Available online: http://onlinepubs.trb.org/Onlinepubs/trr/1987/1111/1111-013.pdf.
- Zwahlen, H.T. and Schnell, T. (1996). "Curve Warning Systems and the Delineation of Curves with Curve Delineation Devices." *Proceedings of the Road Safety in Europe and Strategic Highway Research Program (SHRP) Conference*. pp. 7–22.